
 

 

 
 

POLICY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 14 January 2025 6.00 pm 
Committee Rooms 1-2, 

City Hall 

 
Membership: 
 

 
Councillors Chris Burke (Chair), Calum Watt (Vice-Chair), 
Debbie Armiger, Liz Bushell, Natasha Chapman, Callum Roper 
and Rachel Storer 
 

Substitute members: 
 

Councillors Dylan Stothard and Pat Vaughan 
 

Officers attending: 
 

Ben Jackson, Heather Carmichael, Democratic Services and 
Carolyn Wheater 
 

AGENDA 

SECTION A Pages  

1.  Confirmation of Minutes - 19 November 2024  
 

3 - 8 

2.  Declarations of Interest  
 
Please note that, in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct, when 
declaring interests members must disclose the existence and nature of the 
interest, and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI) or personal 
and/or pecuniary. 
 

 

3.  Procurement Act 2023 & Council Procedure Rules  
 

9 - 78 

4.  Renewal of Public Spaces Protection Order Allowing for the Gating of St 
Peters Passage  
 

79 - 96 

5.  Health Scrutiny Update  
 

Verbal Report 

6.  Policy Scrutiny Work Programme 2024-25 and Executive Work Programme 
Update  
 

97 - 106 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally blank.



Policy Scrutiny Committee 19 November 2024 

 
Present: Councillor Chris Burke (in the Chair),  

Councillor Debbie Armiger, Councillor Natasha Chapman, 
Councillor Callum Roper and Councillor Calum Watt 
 

Apologies for Absence: Councillor Liz Bushell and Councillor Rachel Storer 
 

 
16.  Confirmation of Minutes - 1 October 2024  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 1 October 2024 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair as a true record. 
 

17.  Declarations of Interest  
 

No declarations of interest were received. 
 

18.  Department of Housing and Investment Remedies Policy  
 

Emily Holmes, Assistant Director, Transformation and Strategic Development: 
 

a. presented a report to seek comments on the Department of Housing Draft 
Remedies Policy as detailed at Appendix 1 of the report 
 

b. reported that the Council now had a statutory duty to handle customer 
complaints in line with the Housing Ombudsman Service (HOS) Complaint 
Handling Code (The Code) 
 

c. detailed the main statutory requirements expected of the Council as 
follows: 
 

 Section 7.1: Where something has gone wrong a landlord must 
acknowledge this and set out the actions it has already taken, or 
intends to take, to put things right.  

 Section 7.2: Any remedy offered must reflect the impact on the 
resident as a result of any fault identified. 

 Section 7:3: The remedy offer must clearly set out what will happen 
and by when, in agreement with the resident where appropriate. 
Any remedy proposed must be followed through to completion. 

 Section 7.5: Landlords must take account of the guidance issued by 
the Ombudsman when deciding on appropriate remedies. 

 
d. highlighted that whilst there were existing procedures for offering small 

sums to compensate loss, there was not a formal policy document which 
was in line with the HOS Guidance on Remedies and therefore, one 
needed to be developed and agreed to ensure compliance with The Code 
 

e. advised that Lincoln Tenants Panel had made the following comments 
when consulted on this report: 
 

 Recommended the remedies policy be reviewed annually. 

 LTP requested that they be provided with an annual report on the 
volume of compensation administered and areas of service related 
to. 

3

Item No. 1



 Agreed with the proposed compensation amounts and increments 
system relating to qualifying improvements, gesture of goodwill and 
payment of compensation to customers. 

 Recommended rent refund for disturbance allowance amount be 
reduced 

 
f. explained that the policy was reviewed at Housing Scrutiny Sub 

Committee on 31 October 2024, and it was approved at Executive on 18 
November 2024 
 

g. further explained that any recommendations from Policy Scrutiny 
Committee would be considered and approved by the City Solicitor in 
conjunction with the Portfolio Holder for Customer Experience, Review and 
Resources, unless there were major changes which would be referred to 
Executive 

 
h. invited members comments on the content of the report and Remedies 

Policy. 
 

The committee discussed the report in detail and were provided with the following 
responses to questions asked by members: 
 

 A claim could be submitted in writing via letter or email and support would 
be provided to those that were unable to communicate in writing. 

 A communications timetable had been drawn up to advertise the policy to 
tenants. The Lincoln Tenants Panel would also assist with communicating 
the policy to tenants. 

 If the Council received an expression of dissatisfaction from a tenant, they 
would be asked if they would like to make a formal complaint and 
remedies may arise as part of that process. 

 
RESOLVED that: 
 

1. The Draft Remedies Policy be supported. 
 

2. The assistance given by the Lincoln Tenant’s Panel in developing this 
policy be noted. 

 
19.  Unacceptable Customer Actions Policy  

 
Emily Holmes, Assistant Director, Transformation and Strategic Development: 
 

a. presented a report to seek comments on the new Unacceptable 
Customer Actions Policy as detailed at Appendix 1 of the report 
 

b. reported that the Council now had a statutory duty to handle customer 
complaints in line with the Housing Ombudsman Service (HOS) 
Complaint Handling Code (The Code) 

 
c. advised that whilst there were existing procedures for reporting incidents 

and handling reports of unacceptable behaviour, it was not a formal 
policy document and therefore, one needed to be developed and agreed 
to ensure compliance with The Code 
 

4



d. highlighted that the new policy had been developed with the assistance 
of Lincoln Tenant’s Panel who were keen to help ensure that while 
protecting staff, the policy was also proportionate in terms of the action 
taken 

 
e. explained that the policy was reviewed at Housing Scrutiny Sub 

Committee on 31 October 2024, and it was approved at Executive on 18 
November 2024 

 
f. further explained that any recommendations from Policy Scrutiny 

Committee would be considered and approved by the City Solicitor in 
conjunction with the Portfolio Holder for Customer Experience, Review 
and Resources, unless there were major changes which would be 
referred to Executive 

 
g. welcomed members feedback on the content of the policy: 

 
The committee discussed the report in detail and were provided with the following 
responses to questions asked by members: 
 

 There were different tiers of actions to be taken depending on the 
circumstance of the unacceptable behaviour. The actions taken were 
aimed at stopping the behaviour so that the customer could be supported 
with their issue. 

 Cases where staff had been threatened or hassled were considered by the 
Corporate Management Team and actions put in place such as allocating 
the customer with a single point of contact. 

 Depending on the situation information about the unacceptable behaviour 
could be shared e.g. information would be shared with a contractor who 
was visiting a customer’s home where that had been incidents of 
unacceptable behaviour. 

 Details of the customer could also be included on the Exercise with 
Caution Register which was shared with relevant staff. 

 Each individual was considered on a case-by-case basis and appropriate 
support was provided such as mental health support for vulnerable adults 
and safeguarding procedures for children. 

 Records were kept for 6 years which was in line with General Data 
Protection Regulations (GDPR). 

 
RESOLVED that: 
 

1. The Unacceptable Customer Actions Policy be supported. 
 

2. The assistance given by the Lincoln Tenant’s Panel in developing this 
policy be noted. 

 
20.  Corporate Document Review  

 
Emily Holmes, Assistant Director, Transformation and Strategic Development 
gave a verbal update on the Corporate Document Review and covered the 
following main points: 
 

 The current spreadsheet contained a list of 247 policies, strategies and 
guidance notes and included information on when each document was due 
for review. 

5



 It was not clear on the current spreadsheet if there was a link between 
documents. 

 Officers felt that the spreadsheet would benefit from a fuller review which 
could include details of: 

o document type 
o the date the document was agreed 
o when the document was published on the website 
o if and how documents were linked together 
o when the document was due to be reviewed 
o if there had been significant changes to the document, how had this 

been rolled out and if training was needed 

 All document owners had been contacted from the spreadsheet and they 
had confirmed that all documents had either already been reviewed or 
would be reviewed imminently. 

 Suggested that a review of Corporate Documents be considered by Policy 
Scrutiny Committee in Quarter 1 of 2025/26 once the full review had been 
completed. 

 
RESOLVED that: 
 

1. The verbal update be noted. 
 

2. The Corporate Document Review be scheduled into the Policy Scrutiny 
Work Programme in Quarter 1 of 2025/26. 

 
21.  Health Scrutiny Update  

 
The Chair of Policy Scrutiny Committee updated members of the business that 
had been discussed at the Health Scrutiny meeting held on 6 November 2024, 
these were: 
  

 Lincolnshire Integrated Care System Winter Plan 2024/25 

 Lincolnshire Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 

 Non-Emergency Patient Transport 
 
The committee discussed in detail how the closure of some pharmacies had 
affected some areas of the City. The review of pharmaceutical needs by the 
Health Scrutiny Committee was welcomed by Members. 
 
Emily Holmes, Assistant Director of Strategic Development suggested that her 
team could undertake a mapping exercise to track the current pharmacy provision 
in the city for information to feed into Lincolnshire County Councils review of 
Pharmaceutical Needs. 
 
The Chair further suggested that Officers liaise with the Chief Executive of 
Lincolnshire Co-op as part of this work.   
 
RESOLVED that:  
 

1. The update be noted. 
 

2. A mapping exercise of the current pharmacy provision be undertaken by 
Officers and circulated to members. 

 
22.  Policy Scrutiny Work Programme 2024-25 and Executive Work Programme 

6



Update  
 

The Democratic Services Officer: 
  

a. presented the report ‘Policy Scrutiny Work Programme 2024-25 and 
Executive Work Programme Update’ 

 
b. presented the Executive Work Programme November 2024- October 2025 

 
c. requested councillors to submit any items they wished to scrutinise from 

the Executive Work Programme and policies of interest 
 

d. invited members questions and comments: 
  
RESOLVED that: 
  

1. The Policy Scrutiny work programme be noted. 
 

2. The Executive work programme be noted. 
 

 

7



This page is intentionally blank.



POLICY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  14 JANUARY 2025 
 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

PROCUREMENT ACT 2023 & COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND TOWN CLERK 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

CAROLYN WHEATER - CITY SOLICITOR AND HEATHER 
CARMICHAEL - PROCUREMENT MANAGER 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 
 
 

To update and seek any comments from Policy Scrutiny Committee on the new 
Procurement Act 2023 and the subsequent revision of the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules. 
 

2. Executive Summary 
 

2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Procurement Act 
 
The Procurement Act 2023 (PA23) received Royal Assent in October 2023 and is 
due to come into force in February 2025. The Act will supersede existing legislation 
governing public procurement, including the Public Contract Regulations 2015. 
 
The PA23 has been designed to create a simpler, more flexible commercial system 
which meets the UK’s needs. The aim of the Act is to provide a number of benefits 
to suppliers and buyers including: 
 

 Cutting red tape and supporting innovation 

 Improving transparency by creating a fully open and transparent system, 
meaning everyone has access to public procurement data 

 Faster competitive processes for emergency buying, allowing buyers to 
meet urgent needs quickly and efficiently 

 Simplifying the process of working with the public sector, supporting more 
small to medium enterprises (SME’s) to bid for contracts 

 
2.3 
 
 
 
2.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5 
 
 
 

This transformation of public procurement represents a huge change for all public 
bodies and is seen as a significant opportunity to make procurement processes 
better to deliver outcomes for the taxpayer.  
 
Contract Procedure Rules 
 
In order to comply with the PA23 the procurement manager has updated and 
refreshed the Council’s contract procedure rules (CPR’s). These CPR’s, which are 
required by the Local Government Act 1972, set out the rules by which the Council 
spends money on the goods, services and works needed to deliver services to the 
residents of Lincoln.  
 
The CPRs have seven main purposes: 

 To support the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Objectives 
 To provide a legal framework for the Council’s procurement activities  

9

Item No. 3



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.6 
 
 
 
 
 
3. 
 
3.1 
 
 
3.2.1 
 
 
 
 
3.2.2 
 
 
3.2.3 
 
 
 
 
3.2.4 
 
 
3.2.5 
 
 
3.2.6 
 
3.2.7 
 
 
3.2.8 
 
3.2.9 
 
 
 
3.2.10 
 

 To provide an auditable framework for the Council’s procurement activities 
 To help the Council obtain value for money so that in turn it may provide 

value for money services to the public 
 To comply with the UK law governing spending of public money 
 To comply with UK law as required through the Public Contract Regulations 

(2015) and Procurement Act 2023 

To protect staff and members of the Council from undue criticism or allegation of 
wrongdoing. 
 
The revised CPR’s adopt the whole procurement lifecycle approach, and the 
intention is that these are easier to read, make clear the requirements linked to 
contract values and clarifies the limited circumstances where an exception to the 
normal route can be applied. The CPR’s set out the Council’s own rules for 
contracts and procurement and are the layer below procurement legislation. 
 
PA 2023 
 
The PA23 makes significant changes to the Public Contract Regs 2015, some of 
which are outlined below (though not an exhaustive list): - 
 
That ‘procurement’ is to be seen in its widest sense, so the term now means not 
only the procurement process itself, but also pre-market steps in the route to 
award, the operation and management of the contract once awarded, and the exit 
whether by termination or expiry. 
 
Pre-market engagement sees the introduction of two new public notices Planned 
Procurement Notices and Preliminary Market Engagement Notices. 
 
Competitive Tendering Procedure – moves from six procedures to the creation of 
one concept of competitive tendering procedure, which may be either a single 
stage open procedure or; ‘any other competitive procedure that the authority 
considers appropriate’, introducing the freedom to design a procedure. 
 
A new concept is introduced of ‘excluded suppliers’ – excluded on a mandatory 
ground and ‘excludable suppliers’ excludable on a discretionary ground. 
 
Allows the modification of the term of the procurement provided the tender deadline 
has not passed. 
 
Allows for the direct award of a contract in special/limited cases. 
 
Introduces a new concept of an open framework which can operate for a maximum 
of eight years and allow new suppliers to join during the lifetime of the framework. 
 
Reduces the standstill period after a contract has been awarded, from 10 to 8 days. 
 
Where a contract is valued at more than £5 million, introduces a requirement to 
publish at least three key performance indicators (KPI’s) via a contract 
performance notice. 
 
Introduces Contract Change Notices which will be required for all contract 
amendments, except where this doesn’t change the scope of the notice. 

10



3.2.11 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
3.4 
 
 
 
 
3.5 
 
3.6 
 
 
 
 
 
3.7 
 
 
 
3.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.9 
 
 
 
3.10 
 
 
 
 
3.11 
 
3.12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Introduces a central digital platform for suppliers to register and store their details 
so that they can be used for multiple bids and be able to view all opportunities in 
one place. 
 
Transition 
 
The new PA23 will only apply to new procurements commenced from the date the 
Act comes into force. This means contracts let prior to 24th February 2025 will 
continue to be governed by previous legislation and will not be subject to the 
requirements of the PA23. 
 
Notices 
 
Linked to the transparency thread running through the PA23, the most significant 
change for public authorities contemplating entering into a contract is the number 
of notices that are now required to be published. As identified above, whilst not all 
mandatory, these notices apply even before the contract has been identified and 
throughout the contract period until expiry of such. 
 
This a significant step change for the Procurement Manager to manage and once 
the contract has been awarded, for the identified contract manager to monitor, 
review and publish. 
 
There are now a significant number of contract notices required to be published 
covering the following stages: 
 

 Planning stage 
 Procurement stage 
 Contract award and extension 
 Contract performance 

 
Whilst the transparency of the above is understood, the pushing out of this 
increased information does have a significant draw on resources and poses an 
increased risk of challenge as there is so much more information available. 
 
It is clear that whilst the proposed changes by the PA23 will see a reduction in the 
amount of ‘red tape’ for the market and businesses, this will not be the case for 
contracting authorities such as the Council. The Act does require additional work 
and steps during each procurement. 
 
Pipeline Notice 
 
One of the main changes to be introduced is the publishing of a Pipeline Notice. 
This is seen as an important new step as contracting authorities can provide the 
market with information about current and future public contract opportunities by 
publishing a forward-looking procurement pipeline. 
 
This is seen as a particular benefit to SME’s and social enterprises as it provides 
them with time to plan for future work.  
This is a requirement for any contract with an estimated value of more than £2 
million. It is the collection of individual procurements that make up a contracting 
authority’s procurement pipeline over the next reporting period. The ‘reporting 

11



 
 
 
4. 
 
4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. 
 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
6. 
 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
7. 
 
7.1 
 
8. 
 
8.1 
 
 
 
 
 
8.2 
 
 
 
 

period’ is 18 months, commencing on the first day of the financial year in which the 
notice is published. 
 
Contract Management 
 
Whilst there is already a procedure in place for any contract exercise to identify a 
contract manager, whose responsibility it is to monitor, and manage the contract 
for the length of the term and all relevant performance issues, the Act will now 
place additional responsibilities on that contract management. As identified above, 
the PA23 places additional responsibilities for the duration of the contract for the 
publishing of any relevant notice, once the award notices have been completed by 
the Procurement Manager. There will also be a requirement for relevant AD’s, 
service managers or contract managers to identify any contracts which may need 
to be included in the pipeline notice. 
 
Contract Procedure Rules 
 
As identified above the CPR’s are a legal requirement and form part of the 
Constitution. Whilst the CPR’s have been updated to reflect the necessary 
changes under the PA23, they also set out the process to be followed for contracts 
for goods, services and works and all relevant thresholds for these which sit under 
the PA23. They also identify that there may be occasions where they may be an 
exception to the normal route for entering into a contract, and these exceptions are 
listed and limited to those as set out. 
 
They also identify that whilst there may be the necessity and the wish to use a 
Framework agreement, that a simplified procedure will still be required to make 
clear why a framework has been used. 
 
Training 
 
Appropriate training will be undertaken on the PA23 and the revised CPR’s with 
members, CMT, AD’s and contract managers, over the coming months to ensure 
that all those who have a role in contracts are fully prepared for the Act coming 
into force in February. 
 
Strategic Priorities 
 
N/A 
 
Organisational Impacts 
 
Finance 
 
There will be a cost of circa £22,000 to assist with the implementation of the Act to 
cover training as outlined above, and to purchase a suite of documents relevant to 
implementing the Act. This cost is accommodated within existing budgets. 
 
Legal Implications including Procurement Rules 
 
As outlined in the report.  
 
 

12



8.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.4 
 
 
 
 
9. 
 
9.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 
 
The Public Sector Equality Duty means that the Council must consider all 
individuals when carrying out their day-to-day work, in shaping policy, delivering 
services and in relation to their own employees. 
 
It requires that public bodies have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate discrimination. 

 Advance equality of opportunity 

 Foster good relations between different people when carrying out their 
activities. 

 
The Procurement Act 2023 and the Council’s contract procedure require the 
council to conduct all contracts in a fair, transparent and non-discriminatory 
manner. 
 
Risk Implications 
 
If the Council does not implement the Act properly or does not update the CPR’s 
as necessary, there will be a risk of challenge to the procurement process. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That Policy Scrutiny Committee note the new Procurement Act and revision to the 
contract procedure rules and refer any comments to Executive. 
 

 
Is this a key decision? 

 
No 

 
Do the exempt information categories 
apply? 
 

No 

 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules (call-in and urgency) apply? 

 

No 

 

How many appendices does the report 
contain? 

 

One 

 

List of Background Papers: None 

 
Lead Officer: Carolyn Wheater - City Solicitor  

carolyn.wheater@lincoln.gov.uk  
 

13

mailto:carolyn.wheater@lincoln.gov.uk


This page is intentionally blank.



Page 1 of 63 
 

Appendix A 

Contract Procedure Rules      November 2024 

1. Scope of Contract Procedure Rules 
 

1.1 Overview 
 

 These Contract Procedure Rules (CPR’s) set out the rules by which we spend 
money on the supplies (goods), services and works we need to deliver services 
to the residents of Lincoln. They are an integral part of the Council’s Constitution 
and must be used for any purchase or procurement exercise by ALL employees 
of the Council or any authorised person buying on behalf of the Council. 

The following sections provide a high-level snapshot of the requirements 
set out within these CPR’s: 

Section 4 – para 4.3 – page 14 – Summary Table of Applicable Thresholds 

Section 16 – page 59 – 60 – Procurement Flowcharts  

As a public authority the Council has a duty to allow the market the freedom of 
opportunity to trade with it. If the Council fails in this duty, a potential supplier or 
contractor may have a legitimate cause for complaint. 

The CPRs have seven main purposes: 

• To support the delivery of the Council's Corporate Objectives 
• To provide a legal framework for the Council's procurement activities  
• To provide an auditable framework for the Council's procurement 

activities 
• To help the Council obtain value for money so that in turn it may provide 

value for money services to the public 
• To comply with the UK law governing spending of public money 
• To comply with UK law as required through the Public Contract 

Regulations (2015) and Procurement Act 2023 
• To protect staff and members of the Council from undue criticism or 

allegation of wrongdoing 

Some of the rules set out in the document are required by law, others have to be 
put in place to provide a complete, clear and coherent framework in which people 
can work.   

These CPRs recognise that the Council has certain responsibilities as a public 
authority for which it needs to act collectively: 

• to make the best use of shared buying power 
• to produce information to comply with the law 
• to understand the big picture of spending activity to allow the Council to 

plan, to measure and improve performance and to train and develop its 
officers. 

These Rules DO apply to:  

15



Page 2 of 63 
 

• all contracts for the supply of works, goods or services (including 
consultancy and agency staff) to the Council, regardless of value 

• partnership and collaborative arrangements with other public bodies 
• concession contracts.  
• contracts for the purchase or sale of any interest in land, (including 

leasehold interests), where the Council imposes design requirements, 
and/or specifications and certain outputs (land development transactions)  

They DO NOT apply to:  

• contracts for the purchase or sale of any interest in land, (including 
leasehold interests) which do not impose the above * 

• contracts of employment for the appointment of individual members of 
staff, including members of staff sourced through employment agencies   

• sponsorship agreements 
• supply of works, goods and services by the council or one of its public 

sector partners. However, the City Solicitor and the Chief Finance Officer 
must be consulted where the Council is contemplating this route.  

These CPRs promote good commercial practice, public accountability and deter 
corruption. Following these procedures is the best defence against allegations 
that a procurement activity has been undertaken incorrectly, fraudulently or 
unlawfully. These procedures cover contract and procurement activity undertaken 
on behalf of the Council and within a partnership arrangement, regardless of the 
source of funding. 

Officers responsible for procurement and contracting, MUST ensure compliance 
with these CPRs, the Public Contract Regulations 2015, Procurement Act 2023, 
Financial Procedure Rules, applicable Grant Fund spending regulations and 
conditions, and with all UK legal requirements. 

In addition to the above, due regard to statutory guidance issued by the Crown 
Commercial Service must be paid, as required by the Public Contract Regulations 
2015 and the Procurement Act 2023 (PPN’s). 

These CPR’s do not contain procedures relating to making payments and 
undertaking purchasing activity, i.e. raising purchase orders or using a purchasing 
card. These procedures are found within Financial Procedures Rules. 

It should also be noted that these CPR’s lay down minimum requirements. More 
stringent requirements may be appropriate for particular contracts and 
procurements, dependent on a number of factors. 

In accordance with the Constitution, the City Solicitor has the authority to make 
minor amendments to these CPR’s, more comprehensive amendments must be 
approved by Full Council. 

 

1.2 Basic Principles/Compliance 
 

 All procurement activity, including the entering into contracts, on behalf of the 
Council, must:  
 

• comply with these Contract Procedure Rules 

16



Page 3 of 63 
 

• comply with the Council's Financial Procedure Rules   
• comply with all relevant UK legislation 
• adhere to procurement principles by being undertaken in a transparent, 

non-discriminatory and proportionate manner 
• achieve best value in respect of the use of public money 
• demonstrate high regard to integrity 

 
Each Director and Assistant Director is responsible for ensuring that his/her 
department/section complies with these Contract Procedure Rules, Financial 
Procedure Rules   and ALL applicable legislation. They MUST ensure that 
procurement requirements are appropriately planned, resourced, reported, 
monitored and awarded. They may delegate the practical elements of the 
processes to competent officers within their departments, who are then equally 
responsible for ensuring these CPRs are adhered to.  
 
All members of staff and consultants engaged in any capacity to manage or 
supervise the procurement of any works, goods or services for the Council and/or 
the subsequent contract MUST comply with these CPR’s. 
 
In addition to the above, all those involved in any form of procurement/entering 
into a contract/contract management, must ensure: 
 

• relevant professional advice is sought, in a timely manner, from 
Procurement, Legal and Finance. 

• any external grant funding is used in line with these rules and the 
conditions to which it was assigned.  Where there is conflict Procurement, 
Legal and Finance advice should be sought 

• any conflict of interest is declared 
• payment is only made for goods, services and works delivered at the 

contract price, the quantity and quality standards quoted for 
• the budget holder monitors all expenditure through their budget 
• a fully signed/sealed contract (dependent on value) is entered into prior to 

the commencement of the provision 
• an appropriate contract manager is identified, who is accountable for 

ensuring the contract delivers the goods, services and/or works as set out 
within the contract 

• the contract manager follows the required contract management 
monitoring, and this is fully documented to provide a clear audit trail 

• the Council’s retention policy is adhered too 
 
It is also proposed that these CPRs are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure 
that they are still fit for purpose and that a full review will be undertaken every 
three years. 
 

1.3 Contracts 
 

 A contract is an arrangement made by, or on behalf of the Council, with a third 
party, instructing them to undertake works or for the supply of goods or services. 
 
This includes: 
 

• the supply of goods 
• the delivery of services 
• the execution of works 
• the hire, rental, repair, maintenance or lease of goods/equipment 

17



Page 4 of 63 
 

• the appointment of agency staff or consultants 
 

It does not include: 
• Partnering arrangements (albeit there may be a requirement for a legal 

arrangement to be entered into) 
• Membership of and/or subscriptions to a recognised bodies (and 

associated work that they undertake on our behalf 
• Contracts of employment which make an individual an employee of the 

council 
• Agreements regarding acquisition, disposal or transfer of land  
• Awarding of grant monies 

 

1.4 Joint Commissions 
 

 Where the council jointly procures/commissions services with other public sector 
bodies i.e. local authorities, health authorities etc. the following shall apply: 
 

• A lead authority will need to be determined for the purposes of the 
provision to be procured and their processes will be adhered too, and any 
subsequent contract entered into, will be deemed compliant with these 
CPR’s thus meaning no exception to normal routes is required 

• If the procurement/commission is with a NHS body, then adherence to 
specific regulations will apply i.e. the NHS bodies & LA Partnership 
Arrangement Regulations 2000 as amended by the NHS Bodies & LA 
Arrangements (Amendment) Regulations 2015 
 

Where the Council works jointly to procure/commission any goods, services 
and/or works with other organisations such as those from the private sector, 
where there are no legislative requirements, the following shall apply: 
 

• Regardless of who the identified lead is, these CPR’s will apply as the 
Council has a legal duty to ensure adherence to various legislation etc 

• Where the contract is procured on behalf of the Council but not in joint 
names, then there may be a requirement for the third party to indemnify 
the Council and vice versa. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

18



Page 5 of 63 
 

2. Roles & Responsibilities 
 

2.1 Overview - Tree of Responsibility 
 

 This section sets out the Tree of Responsibility in terms of ensuring that the 
Council has a robust governance process in place to ensure adherence to the 
requirements of these CPR’s. 
 
There is a “golden thread” that runs through from Corporate Management Team 
(CMT) to Contract Managers and in order for these CPR’s to be effective, it is 
essential that all involved understand and comply with them. 
 
Whilst inevitably there may be some elements of overlap within the 
responsibilities of different areas, it should be clear what is required from 
individual roles when overseeing or undertaking a procurement exercise. 
 

2.2 Procurement Manager 
 

 The Procurement Manager is responsible for: 
 

• ensuring that all procurement undertaken is done so in strict accordance 
with these CPR’s, Public Contract Regulations 2015, The Procurement 
Act 2023 (depending on when the procurement was commenced/contract 
entered into).  

• for ensuring that the CPR’s are kept up to date on a regular basis and 
that a full review is undertaken at least every three years. 

• Where appropriate or requested by an Officer within the authority, ensure 
that any framework arrangement/agreement (ESPO, Scape, CCS etc.) is 
fully compliant prior to any discussions being entered into or procurement 
exercise undertaken. 

• ensuring that where a procurement activity is undertaken electronically 
via the Councils recognised portal (currently Pro Contract), that all 
requirement stages are completed.  This will include the initial entry being 
made on the Corporate Contracts Register.  However, it should be 
noted that it is then ultimately the responsibility of the relevant 
Contract Manager to ensure that all details held on the Contracts 
Register are correct and up to date.  

• ensuring that all staff and elected members are aware of their 
responsibilities under these CPR’s and receive adequate training and 
guidance. 

 
In addition to the above, the Procurement Manager is ultimately responsible for  
ensuring that where a procurement activity is required, that it hasn’t been split 
into smaller requirements in order to avoid undertaking the necessary 
procurement process. 
 
In conjunction with the City Solicitor, they have responsibility for ensuring that any 
exception to the normal procurement route is captured and recorded so as to 
provide a full audit trail of decisions being made.  It should be noted though 
that exceptions to the normal route can only be granted where the contract 
value is below the relevant threshold. 
 
 
 

19



Page 6 of 63 
 

2.3 City Solicitor 
 

 The City Solicitor has delegated responsibility for ensuring that these CPRs are 
properly administered, adhered too and reflect the most up to date legislation and 
statutory guidance.   
 
As stated above (para 2.2), the City Solicitor will in conjunction with the 
Procurement Manager, ensure that any exception to the normal route is captured 
and recorded so as to provide a full audit trail of decisions being made. 
 

2.4 Corporate Management Team (CMT) 
 

 Corporate Management Team (CX, Director of Major Developments, Director of 
Housing & Investment, Director of Communities & Environment) are collectively 
responsible for ensuring that all staff fully understand their responsibilities with 
under the CPR’s and comply with them, and that resources are in place via the 
Procurement Manager/City Solicitor to provide adequate training and guidance. 
 
Director’s duties are as follows:  
 

• To ensure that their officers seek and obtain value for money and secure 
continuous improvement in all procurements. 
 

• To ensure no contract is entered into by their Directorate without there 
being adequate and agreed budget provision, in accordance with FPR’s, 
and by adhering to these CPR’s 
 

• To ensure compliance with all applicable legislation and seeking advice 
from the Procurement Manager, where appropriate, prior to the 
commencement of any procurement related activity  
 

• To ensure that Non-Commercial Considerations (i.e. personal conflicts, 
peer pressure) do not influence any decision to seek quotations or 
tenders or to enter into any contract.  
 

• To ensure all staff (including any agents or consultants acting on their 
behalf) dealing with procurement for their directorate, are fully aware of 
and comply with these CPRs and to arrange adequate training on their 
operation.  Ideally training on these should form part of their induction 
process to the post they hold. 
 

• To ensure every contract has a named officer with responsibility for it.  
 

• To ensure that their officers keep records of all signed contracts and 
copies of all relevant documentation to provide a full audit trail of actions 
taken.  
 

• To ensure that the Council’s Contracts Register for all contracts greater 
than £5000 in value is kept up to date  
 

• To ensure the Corporate Procurement Pipeline is kept up to date with all 
procurements greater than £2m in value to be carried out for the next 18 
months. 

 

20



Page 7 of 63 
 

2.5 Assistant Directors 
 

 All Assistant Directors are responsible for ensuring that Officers within their 
respective areas adhere to the requirements of these CPR’s.   
 
It is their responsibility to ensure that procurement is undertaken compliantly and 
that all contracts entered into: 
 

• Sign off all tender documents prior to the tender going live, where the 
tender is over the threshold for goods and services (this also applies to 
works contracts even though the threshold for this is significantly more) 

• Appear on the Council’s contracts register as soon as they are signed and 
in advance of any goods/services being received and/or works being 
undertaken 

• All contracts are managed in accordance with the requirements of the 
Council’s contract management guidance (see section 12) 

• Appointed/designated contract managers within their area have 
undertaken the relevant training and fully understand the requirements  
Risk Registers are in place and reviewed in accordance with the Council’s 
Lincoln Project Management Model (LPMM) and risk register 
requirements (see section 14). 
 

2.6 Legal Services 
 

 Legal Services are responsible for ensuring that all contracts entered into are 
lawful and provide adequate protection to the council, and that they are properly 
signed/sealed. 
 
It is their responsibility to ensure that the form of contract is relevant, appropriate 
and proportionate to the provision, and/or to raise any shortcomings in relation to 
proposed forms, especially where appointments are being made via the use of 
frameworks/agencies and changes cannot be made. In addition to this they are 
also responsible for ensuring that any external grant funding requirements are 
reflected appropriately. 
 
They are also responsible for providing advice/guidance in relation to all legal 
matters, that may form part of, or be associated with, the required provision.  This 
will may include the following, but it should be noted that this list is not exhaustive: 
 

• Subsidy Control 
• Collateral Warranties 
• Deeds of Warranties 
• Framework provisions 
• Use of providers own form of contract i.e. agency staff, recruitment 

agencies etc 
 

2.7 Chief Finance Officer (S151) & Financial Services 
 

 The Chief Finance Officer (S151) is the officer responsible for the proper 
administration of the financial affairs of the Council and as such have a duty to 
provide financial advice and support in relation to all procurement activities and 
ensure compliance with Financial Procedure Rules. 
 
In addition to the above, they are also responsible for: 

21



Page 8 of 63 
 

 

• ensuring that processes detailed within these CPR’s are reflected where 
necessary and compliment the requirements of Financial Procedure 
Rules.  Any conflicts identified, should be discussed with both the 
Procurement Manager and City Solicitor in order for a resolution to be 
found and be reflected within both CPR’s and FPR’s. 

 

• ensuring that where appropriate, contracts entered into provide adequate 
financial protection to the council.  Whilst suppliers are able to self-certify 
in respect of their financial standing as part of the procurement activity, a 
review of this will be undertaken by Financial Services. In addition to this, 
Financial Services will also undertake financial checks at agreed points 
during the contract period, as notified by contract managers, as well as in 
response to a contract manager raising warnings/concerns over a 
contractors financial standing. 

 

• ensuring that the form of contract, and the proposed terms/provisions 
within it, are relevant, appropriate and proportionate from a financial 
perspective i.e. inflationary clauses, capped liabilities etc.  Where it is not, 
then any shortcomings should be addressed, so that any amendments 
can be enacted or where it is an appointment being made via the use of 
frameworks/agencies and changes cannot be made the contract manager 
is aware of the risks and procedures are put in place to help mitigate 
these.   

 

• reviewing the provision being procured and provide the requirements in 
relation to the insurance cover required.   
 

• ensuring that any financial related external grant funding requirements are 
reflected appropriately  

 

• In conjunction with the City Solicitor providing advice/guidance in relation 
to all finance related matters, that may form part of, or be associated with, 
the required provision.  This will may include the following, but it should 
be noted that this list is not exhaustive: 

 
• Performance Bonds 
• Parent Company Guarantees 
• Framework provisions 
• Use of providers own form of contract i.e. agency staff 
• Embedded Leases 

 

2.8 Service Managers (if not contract managers) 
 

 Service managers are responsible for ensuring that all procurement related 
activity undertaken by them and their staff within their service area follow the 
requirements of these CPR’s. 
 

2.9 Contract Managers 
 

 Contract Managers are responsible for ensuring that they manage the contract 
effectively, efficiently and in accordance with these CPR’s (primarily section 12). 
In summary this will include: 

22



Page 9 of 63 
 

• Monitoring performance of the supplier/contractor against the agreed 
programme or service level, as appropriate. 

• Monitoring the continuing level of operational and financial risk (including 
the risk of fraud) to which the Council may be exposed. 

• Facilitating the resolution of issues between the supplier/contractor and 
the key user(s) 

• Ensuring the prompt settlement of invoices / payments correctly and 
properly submitted by the supplier/contractor in accordance with the 
contract. 

• Ensuring that key certifications are in place i.e. insurance levels, 
performance bonds 

2.10 Elected Members 
 

 Whilst there is no direct responsibility arising from CPRs in relation to the role of 
elected members, as members are precluded from entering into contracts on 
behalf of the authority, they should have an awareness of the requirements of 
these, and the requirements placed on officers with regard to procurement and 
contract management, in order to ensure effective scrutiny. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

23



Page 10 of 63 
 

3.0 Exceptions to the Normal Route 
 

3.1 Overview 
 

 Whilst the expectation is that any tendering of contracts will be compliant with 
these CPR’s, it is acknowledged that there that may be exceptional situations 
where it is not possible to follow the normal route.   
 
This section sets out those limited occasions where an exception to the normal 
route may apply: 
 

3.2 Exceptions  
 

 Any exception to the normal route is provided for in exceptional circumstances, 
as identified below, and only with the agreement of both the City Solicitor and 
Procurement Manager as well as the relevant Assistant Director/Director.  
 
It should be noted that an exception can only be granted where the total value of 
the provision being procured DOESN’T exceed the relevant threshold.  Where 
the value of the provision exceeds this, this action will require the publication of a 
Transparency notice and will need to satisfy the mandatory requirements of the 
relevant procurement legislation.   
 
Exceptions are as follows: 
 

i. Where urgent/emergency repairs are necessitated by breakdown 
or other failure of buildings, plant, machinery or ICT 
software/equipment, necessary to maintain and ensure efficient 
and continuous service delivery. The relevant definition of 
“emergency” or “urgent” describes it as “brought about by events 
unforeseeable by and not attributable to the contracting authority” 

ii. Where renewals, repairs and upgrades to buildings, plant, 
appliances, machinery, vehicles or ICT equipment/software can 
only be efficiently carried out and most economically supplied with 
regard to time, cost and speed of delivery, by the original 
contractor/supplier or their successors or other sole specialists, 
subject to it not exceeding the relevant thresholds when 
aggregated. 

iii. Where urgent alternative arrangements are required to maintain 
the delivery of critical services due to the failure of an existing 
service provider or supplier. 

iv. Where an emergency situation exists as defined in the Council’s 
Emergency Plan and/or the Corporate Business Continuity Plan 

v. Works orders placed with utility companies i.e. for re-routing 
cables or pipework 

vi. Where the City Solicitor and the Procurement Manager are 
satisfied that there is only one potential supplier of the required 
goods, supplies or services 

vii. Where it is not possible for the direct approach to be made to a 
local supplier as per the definition in the Local Purchasing 
Strategy.  However, this is only where the City Solicitor and the 
Procurement Manager are satisfied that there are no more 
providers. 

24



Page 11 of 63 
 

viii. Where it is not possible to request two quotations from local 
suppliers it is acceptable for all quotations to be from non-local 
suppliers.  However, this is only where the City Solicitor and the 
Procurement Manager are satisfied that there are no more 
providers. 

 
The use of the Exceptions to Normal Route template is a requirement for all 
exceptions covered within this section and a copy if this can be found within 
paragraph 17.  Sign off from the relevant Assistant Director/Director is required 
prior to the completed form being sent to the Procurement Manager and/or City 
Solicitor for final approval PRIOR to any procurement activity taking place. 
 

3.3 Specific Processes for Selected Areas (specific category types) 
 

 In addition to the above exceptions, there is also the exception process in respect 
of specific category types (below relevant threshold) and this allows for a direct 
approach to be made to a single supplier up to the relevant threshold, as follows: 
 

• Where the appointment is in respect of specialist legal advice or for a 
barrister for defence or prosecution of a specific case.  Appointment can 
only be made by the City Solicitor or an authorised representative. 
 

• Where the appointment is in respect of specialist services in respect of 
The Representation of the Peoples Act then each election i.e. City, 
County, PCC, BID etc. can be procured on an individual basis with the 
agreement of the Democratic Services and Elections Manager in 
conjunction with the City Solicitor. 
 

• Where the appointment is in respect of specialist services in respect of a 
General Election and/or a government authorised election such as a 
Referendum, then this can be procured on an individual basis with the 
agreement of the Democratic Services and Elections Manager in 
conjunction with the City Solicitor. 

 
• Where the appointment is in respect of specialist financial advice or 

specialist internal & external audit support.  Appointment can only be 
made by the Chief Finance Officer or an authorised representative 

 
• Where the appointment is in respect of specialist property advice in 

respect of a one-off bespoke project.  Appointment can only be made by 
the Strategic Property Services Manager or an authorised representative  

 
• Where the appointment is in respect of specialist planning advice in 

respect of a one-off bespoke project.  Appointment can only be made by 
the Assistant Director Planning. 

 
Whilst the above provides an exception to the normal procurement process it is 
still a requirement of the appointment that all the relevant governance and 
contractual arrangements are put in place.  This may include the drawing together 
of a contract; issuing a brief and receiving the contractor’s response; ensuring 
insurances are in place etc.  Advice should always be sought from the 
Procurement Manager and/or City Solicitor prior to the commencement of this. 
 

 

25



Page 12 of 63 
 

4. Thresholds 
 

4.1 Council Set (below mandatory legal threshold) 
 

 The following values have been set by the authority and should be followed when 
undertaking a procurement exercise.  All thresholds set by the Council are exclusive of 
VAT, whereas those set under the relevant procurement legislation are inclusive. There 
is summary table at the end of this section which provides an at a glance guide. 
 
The Threshold levels are set out in paragraph 4.2.  
 
In respect of Goods, Services & Light Touch Regime (LTR) the following applies: 
 
Less than £5,000 – there is no requirement for any formal procurement process to be 
followed but a purchase order is still required to be raised. There is also no legal 
requirement for the contract to be recorded within the Councils contracts register, 
however this would be seen as good practice. 
 
£5,001 to £15,000 – there is no requirement for any formal procurement process to be 
followed. However, it is the responsibility of contract managers and their Assistant 
Directors, to ensure that they have undertaken a due diligence review prior to entering 
into any arrangement and that they are satisfied that to doesn’t expose the Council to any 
unnecessary risk i.e. required insurance levels in place, H&S assessment undertaken etc. 
Where the review flags up any concerns the use of the contract managers checklist 
should be undertaken.  The councils contract register needs to be updated on award and 
the raising of a purchase order is required 
 
£15,001 to £30,000 – a direct approach can be made to one single supplier.  You 
cannot make an approach to multiple suppliers separately.  Completion of the 
contract managers checklist is required and ideally use of the Council’s Request for 
Quotation template (this is not mandatory).  The councils contract register needs to be 
updated on award and the raising of a purchase order is required 
 
 
£30,001 to Relevant Threshold for Goods & Services – a quotation exercise to be 
undertaken using the Council’s Request for Quotation (RFQ) template.  This process is 
to be undertaken electronically utilising the Council’s procurement portal.  The councils 
contract register needs to be updated on award and the raising of a purchase order is 
required 
 
APPOINTMENT OF CONSULTANTS OR AGENCY STAFF: 
 
All of the following thresholds allow for a direct approach to be made to one consultant or 
agency.  However, it is the responsibility of the appointing officer to ensure that the 
appointment delivers best value for money, and it is advisable for a file note to made 
detailing this.  If this cannot be demonstrated, then a quotation exercise as detailed within 
the Goods & Services section above should be followed (over £30,001) 
 
Less than £5,000 – Discussion with HR is required to compliance with IR35.  Officers will 
be expected to undertake a review of any terms and conditions (T&C’s) being imposed 
by the supplier in order to ensure that the Council isn’t exposed to unnecessary risk etc.  
There is no need for the contract managers checklist to be completed or an entry made 
on the contracts register.  However, there is the need for a Purchase Order to be raised. 
 

26



Page 13 of 63 
 

£5,001 to £15,000 – As per the requirement above for up to £5,000 however the 
appointment needs to be entered onto the Council’s contracts register.  Authorisation of 
the appointment should be made by the Assistant Director 
 
£15,001 to £75,000 – Completion of the contract managers checklist is required and 
where possible the relevant T&Cs should be circulated with this for review by Legal and 
Financial Services.  The appointment needs to be entered on the Council’s contracts 
register and a purchase order raised. Authorisation of appointment needs to be made by 
relevant Director. 
 
£75,001 to Relevant Threshold for Goods & Services – Completion of the contract 
managers checklist is required and where possible the relevant T&Cs should be 
circulated with this for review by Legal and Financial Services.  The appointment needs 
to be entered on the Council’s contracts register and a purchase order raised. 
Authorisation of appointment needs to be made by CMT. 
 
APPOINTMENT OF RECRUITMENT AGENCY: 
 
Less than £5,000 – Officers will be expected to undertake a review of any T&C’s being 
imposed by the supplier in order to ensure that the Council isn’t exposed to unnecessary 
risk etc.  There is no need for the contract managers checklist to be completed or an entry 
made on the contracts register.  However, a Purchase Order is to be raised. 
 
£5,001 to £50,000 – a direct approach can be made to one single supplier.  You cannot 
make an approach to multiple suppliers separately.  Use of the Council’s Request for 
Quotation template is required as well as completion of the contract managers checklist.  
The councils contract register needs to be updated on award and the raising of a purchase 
order is required 
 
£50,001 to Relevant Threshold for Goods, Services and Light Touch - a quotation 
exercise to be undertaken using the Council’s Request for Quotation (RFQ) template.  
This process is to be undertaken electronically utilising the Council’s procurement portal.   
 
IT LICENCES AND MODULES UPGRADES: 
 
Up to the threshold for Goods, Services and Light Touch – a direct approach can be 
made to a single supplier.  Completion of the contract managers checklist is required and 
where possible, the relevant T&Cs should be circulated with this for review by Legal and 
Financial Services.  The appointment needs to be entered on the Council’s contracts 
register and a purchase order raised.  Where the total value of the contract is below 
£5,000, there is no requirement for any formal procurement process to be followed, 
however, a purchase order is still required to be raised.  
 
WORKS AND CONCESSION CONTACTS: 
 
Less than £5,000 – there is no requirement for any formal procurement process to be 
followed but a purchase order is still required to be raised. 
 
£5,001 to £30,000 – there is no requirement for any formal procurement process to be 
followed. However, it is the responsibility of contract managers and their Assistant 
Directors, to ensure that they have undertaken a due diligence review prior to entering 
into any arrangement and that they are satisfied that to doesn’t expose the Council to any 
unnecessary risk i.e. required insurance levels in place, H&S assessment undertaken etc. 
Where the review flags up any concerns the use of the contract managers checklist 

27



Page 14 of 63 
 

should be undertaken.  The councils contract register needs to be updated on award and 
the raising of a purchase order is required 
 
£30,001 to £1,000,000 – a direct approach can be made to one single supplier. The 
use of the RFQ direct approach template is mandated.  Completion of the contract 
managers checklist is required. You cannot make an approach to multiple 
suppliers separately.   
 
£1,000,001 to £2,500,000 - a quotation exercise to be undertaken using the Council’s 
RFQ template.  This process is to be undertaken electronically utilising the Council’s 
procurement portal.   
 
£2,500,001 to Threshold - a quotation exercise to be undertaken using the Council’s 
RFQ template.  This process is to be undertaken electronically utilising the Council’s 
procurement portal.   
 
Exceptions to the Above 
 
Whilst all of the above thresholds are in place, Officers can, where they feel it would 
provide better value for money, advertise the opportunity to the marketplace and/or follow 
the quotation route rather than make a direct approach.  In these circumstances full 
engagement with the relevant processes is required as detailed within this document. 
However, prior to this process being undertaken, a file note should be made as to why 
this was the chosen route which should be signed off, by the relevant Assistant Director 
for that area.   
 
Where a framework is being utilised, the above thresholds do not apply, and the 
framework providers requirements will need to be followed.  However, the contract 
managers checklist will still be required to be completed and circulated along with the 
framework providers form of contract and any specific framework information relating to 
terms i.e. insurance levels etc. 
 

4.2 Statutory Set (Goods & Services, Light Touch and Works) 
 

 The relevant thresholds as revised under Public Contract Regulations 2015 on 1st January 
2024 are as follows: 
 

Type Threshold (inc. of VAT) 
 

Goods & Services  £214,904 
 

Works £5,372,609 
 

Light Touch £663,540 
 

Concessions Contract £5,372,609 

 
 

4.3 Summary Table of Proposed Levels 
 

 The following table provides an at a glance summary of the procurement requirements 
based on the various contract value thresholds. 
 

28



Page 15 of 63 
 

Value Goods 
Services & 
Light 
Touch 

Consultancy 
& Agency 
Staff 

Recruitment IT 
Licences & 
Module 
Upgrades 

Works 

Up to 
£5,000 

No Formal Requirement 
 

 

£5,001 to 
£15,000 

No Formal Requirement 
 
 

£15,001 to 
£30,000 

 

Direct Approach 
  
 

No Formal 
Requirement 

£30,001 to 
relevant 
threshold 

 

RFQ 
process 

Direct 
Approach 

Direct 
Approach 

Direct 
Approach 

n/a 

£15,001 to 
£75,000 

n/a Direct 
Approach 

Direct 
Approach 

Direct 
Approach 

n/a 

£75,001 to 
relevant 
threshold 

 

 Direct 
Approach 

Direct 
Approach 

Direct 
Approach 

n/a 

£30,001 to 
£1,000,000 
 

n/a n/a n/a n/a Direct 
Approach 

£1,000,001 
to 
£2,500,000 
 

n/a n/a n/a n/a RFQ 
process 

£2,500,001 
to relevant 
threshold 
 

n/a n/a n/a n/a RFQ 
process 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

29



Page 16 of 63 
 

 

5. Calculating the Contract Value 
 

5.1 Overview 
 

 Prior to the commencement of any procurement activity, it is essential that the 
procurement lead (this can be the contract manager or the operational lead) 
calculates the total contract value.  In order to do they will need to determine the 
estimated annual spend and the preferred length of contract, including all 
extension provisions, so that when multiplied together, it provides an estimated 
annual cost 
 

5.2 Determining the contract length 
 

 It is important when determining the length of time, the contract will be in place 
for, that the following is considered:  
 

• How long will the council utilise the provision being procured 
• Does the marketplace have an optimum length that it will quote for 
• Is there a high churn of suppliers in the marketplace 
• Is the marketplace volatile  
• How does the proposed length reflect internal trends in spend 
• Impact of inflationary factors 
• Length of time spent procuring v initial period of contract 

 

5.3 Determining the total value 
 

 Where a contract/provision has been in place historically, the use of annual spend 
data held by the Council will help to determine estimated spend.  The usual 
process is to look at the spend over a three-year period to provide an average 
and then review this to ensure that it is realistic given known parameters/volume 
of the requirement moving forward along with any inflationary factors that need to 
be considered.  Financial Services will be able to help with the element. 
 
Where it is a new contract/provision then officers will need to utilise any market 
intelligence available and/or their own professional intelligence in this area. 
 
It is also important to remember that when calculating the contract value in 
respect of those which exceed the relevant threshold that VAT is included within 
the calculation as the thresholds stated are shown in this way.  The contract value 
to be procured will then be: 
 
Annual spend x total years provision to be in place for 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30



Page 17 of 63 
 

6. Procurement Routes for above threshold contracts 
 

6.1 Overview 
 

 Where the contract value exceeds the relevant procurement threshold, then the 
legal requirements and processes must be complied with.  Where the 
procurement is commenced prior to the 24th February 2025, adherence should be 
made to the requirements of Public Contract Regulations 2015.  After this date 
adherence to the Procurement Act 2023 should be followed.   
 
Section 9 of these Contract Procedure Rules contains more detailed guidance as 
the processes to be followed. 
 
Specific guidance should always be sought from the Procurement Manager prior 
to the commencement of any procurement activity that exceeds the procurement 
threshold.  
 

6.2 Public Contract Regulations 2015 (PCR2015) 
 

 Where the procurement activity was commenced prior to 24th February 2025, then 
PCR 2015 will apply.  This will also apply in respect of any management, 
variations, modifications in relation to the provision in place.  There are five types 
of contract award procedure under the 2015 Regulations.  
 
These are: 
 

• Open  
• Restricted 
• Competitive Dialogue 
• Competitive with negotiation 
• Innovation Partnership 

 
There are no restrictions in the legislation on the use of the open and restricted 
procedures. The competitive dialogue, competitive with negotiation and 
innovation partnership procedures can only be used in certain specified 
circumstances.  Predominantly, the council uses the open and restricted route, 
and these are covered in more detail in section 9.   
 

6.3 Procurement Act 2023 (PA23) 
 

 Where the procurement activity was commenced on or after the 24thFebruary 
2025, then PA23 will apply.  This will also apply in respect of any management, 
variations, modifications in relation to the provision in place as well as the 
requirement to publish any notices for the duration of the contract as stipulated 
within the Act. 
 
The new Act uses only three procedures, not including frameworks and dynamic 
markets (the new name for dynamic purchasing systems).  
 
The new procurement procedures are: 

• Open Procedure 
• Competitive Flexible procedure 
• Direct award. 

 

31



Page 18 of 63 
 

6.4 Frameworks, Dynamic Purchasing System & Dynamic Markets 
 

 The Council allows for the use of frameworks, dynamic purchasing system (DPS) 
and dynamic markets (DM) where appropriate.  They can help to balance the 
need to achieve/demonstrate value for money with the resource impact of 
undertaking a quotation/full tender process.   
 
A procurement framework, also known as a framework agreement, is an umbrella 
agreement put in place between a provider or range of providers that enables 
buyers to place orders for goods, services and works, without facing the lengthy 
tendering process for each individual task.  Suppliers can only be included at the 
start of the framework and not at any other time. They can only be in place for a 
maximum of four years. 
 
A Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) is similar to a framework agreement, but 
new suppliers can join at any time. It is to be run as a completely electronic 
process and should be set up using the restricted procedure.  They have no 
restriction in length of contract period. 
 
A dynamic market under the Procurement Act 2023 is a list of qualified suppliers 
who are eligible to participate in future procurements. A dynamic market may be 
split into categories/parts, with suppliers only eligible to participate in the parts for 
which they have qualified. DM’s must remain open to new suppliers to join at any 
time. Dynamic markets are available for all types of purchases of goods, services 
or works, other than those purchased under concession contracts unless the 
concession contract is also utilities contracts. 
 
Where a framework has been identified it is paramount that prior to the 
commencement of any activity in relation to the appointment of a supplier by this 
means, both value for money and compliance checks are undertaken.  The 
Procurement Manager will be responsible for ensuring that the Council has been 
named within the original contract notice (this may be via the framework stating 
that it can be used by all UK LA’s).  Contract Managers/Operational Leads will be 
responsible for ensuring that rates quoted for on the framework reflect those 
available in the marketplace. 
 
In addition, it is also a key requirement that the framework agreements are 
reviewed by the relevant sections to ensure that they are fit for purpose. 
Framework agreements in general cannot be amended and must always be 
awarded in accordance with their documentation.  This may leave the Council 
exposed to more risk and so an assessment of this will need to be undertaken 
prior to a final decision being made to continue via this procurement route. 
 
Frameworks can be used, where the agreement allows for an award via a direct 
approach or further competition/mini competition.  Where its being utilised by way 
of further competition, then it is essential that the agreement is reviewed to ensure 
all evaluation of submissions is compliant.  For example, in some cases the 
framework will stipulate the award criteria to be used. 
 

6.5 Concession Contract 
 

 A concession contract is an arrangement between the Council and a supplier, 
where the supplier is given the right to exploit works and/or services provided for 

32



Page 19 of 63 
 

their own gain.  Suppliers under this regime are often referred to as the “Economic 
Operator”.   
 
Economic Operators can either receive consideration for their services solely 
through third party sources, or partly through consideration from the Council, 
along with income received via third parties. 
 
There are two types of concession contracts: works and service concessions. 
 
A works concession is where the economic operator undertakes the development 
of, operates and maintains infrastructure.   
 
A service concession is where the economic operator provides services of 
general economic interest.  This could be where the Council allow the operator to 
operator a café in a council site, utilising council owned assets BUT they carry all 
the commercial risk in terms of profit & loss, and no payment is made by the 
Council to the operator in return for running the service. 
 

6.6 Light Touch Regime (LTR) 
 

 The LTR is a specific set of rules in relation to certain service contracts that tend 
to be of lower interest to the marketplace.  They were prior to the implementation 
of PCR2015, known as Part B services and were predominantly social, health 
and education services.  Not all Part B services are now covered under the LTR.   
 
Section 10 of these CPR’s provides more detail as to how to undertake this type 
of procurement exercise 
 

6.7 
 

Contracting Authority to Contracting Authority 

 The Council may enter into arrangements with other contracting authorities.  This 
can be in respect of two or more public authorities coming together to deliver 
public functions in circumstances where a separate legal organisation such as a 
Teckal company is not formed.  Legal advice should always be sought in respect 
of setting up these arrangements, but it should be noted that there is no 
requirement to undertake a procurement in accordance with these rules. 
 
If the setting up of such an arrangement is considered to be meet the requirement 
of a Teckal company, then Legal and/or procurement advice should be sought 
prior to the arrangement being formalised into a contract.  Where an entity meets 
the needs of a Teckal company there is no requirement to undertake a 
procurement in accordance with these rules. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

33



Page 20 of 63 
 

7. Steps to be taken Prior to Commencing a Procurement Activity 
 

7.1 Contract Managers Checklist 
 

 The Council has in place an agreed and formal Contract Managers Checklist.  
There is one in respect of a new procurement exercise and one for a variation to 
or extension of a current provision.  These must be completed prior to the 
commencement of any dialogue with any suppliers, whether they are the 
incumbent or potential suppliers 
 
The latest versions of the forms can be found within Net Consent along with 
various appendices which will help provide you with guidance as to how they need 
to be completed. Advice is available from the various section leads as identified 
in the checklist and this checklist will form the master source document as the 
procurement process progresses.  
 

7.2 Approvals in Place 
 

 Authority to commence with any procurement should always be in place prior to 
the commencement of any procurement activity.  The following table details the 
requirements where the budget is in place.  Where it’s not, then authority for 
funding will need to be authorised in accordance with FPR’s prior to the award of 
the procurement exercise: 
 

Type Value (£) Authority Required 
 

Goods & Services Up to £25,000 Service Manager 
 

Goods & Services £25,001 to £75,000 Assistant Director 
 

Goods & Services 
(except consultancy & 
agency appointments) 

Over £75,001 Director 
 

Goods & Services 
(consultancy & agency 
appointments) 

Over £75,001 CMT 
 

Works  Up to £25,000 Service Manager 
 

Works £25,001 to £500,000 Assistant Director 
 

Works £500,001 to £2,500,000 Director 
 

Works £2,500,001 to threshold CMT  
 

Works Over Threshold CMT/Executive 
 

 
 

7.3 Business Case for using Frameworks 
 

 Business cases/file notes will be required as follows: 
 

• Where a direct approach for goods, services and light touch, via a 
framework is being undertaken and the value of the appointment exceeds 

34



Page 21 of 63 
 

that set by the council by way of a direct approach but is less than £75,000 
a short file note/business case (see section 18) should detail the rationale 
as to why this process has been taken and should be signed off by the 
relevant Service Manager 

• Where a direct approach for goods, services and light touch, via a 
framework is being undertaken and the value of the appointment exceeds 
£75,001 but is less than threshold (and there is no allowance for a direct 
approach within the council’s set levels), a short file note/business case 
should detail the rationale as to why this process has been taken and 
should be signed off by the relevant Assistant Director 

• Where a direct approach for goods, services and light touch, via a 
framework is being undertaken and the value of the appointment exceeds 
threshold a short file note/business case should detail the rationale as to 
why this process has been taken and should be signed off by the relevant 
Director 

• Where a direct approach for works, via a framework is being undertaken 
and the value of the appointment exceeds £25,000 but is less than 
£75,000 a short file note/business case should detail the rationale as to 
why this process has been taken and should be signed off by the relevant 
Service Manager 

• Where a direct approach for works, via a framework is being undertaken 
and the value of the appointment exceeds £1,000,001 but is less than 
£2,500,000 a short file note/business case should detail the rationale as 
to why this process has been taken and should be signed off by the 
relevant Assistant Director 

• Where a direct approach for works, via a framework is being undertaken 
and the value of the appointment exceeds £2,500,000,001 but is less than 
threshold a short file note/business case should detail the rationale as to 
why this process has been taken and should be signed off by the relevant 
Director 

• Where a direct approach for works, via a framework is being undertaken 
and the value of the appointment exceeds threshold a short file 
note/business case should detail the rationale as to why this process has 
been taken and should be signed off by the relevant Board and/or CMT 

• Where the provision is currently outsourced and there is an option for it to 
be delivered in house then a detailed business case should be signed off 
by CMT then Executive, with the agreement of any relevant committees. 
(initial discussions should be held informally to determine whether there 
is the capacity or appetite for it to be brought in house) 

 

7.4 Social Value 
 

 The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012, which came into force on 31st 
January 2013, requires all public bodies in England and Wales, for the first time 
to legally consider how the services they commission and procure might improve 
the economic, social and environmental well-being of their area.   
 
The Council has developed a set of outcomes/principles that will enable it to 
consider the economic, social and environmental well-being of the City and its 
residents when commissioning/procuring its contracts.  These 
outcomes/principles are based on the vision, values and priorities set by the 
Council. More specifically the following has been defined as the Social Value 
position for the Council: 
 

35



Page 22 of 63 
 

“A process by which benefits can be made that will improve the quality of life & 
life chances of City of Lincoln residents and enhance our Civic pride in the city” 
 
It should be noted that the only legal requirement for SV to be considered for 
inclusion within a procurement activity is when the value exceeds the relevant 
threshold.  However, it is the Council’s aim that consideration will be given in 
respect of all procurement exercises, where appropriate and relevant to do so. 
 

7.5 Subsidy Control 
 

 Following the UK leaving the European Union, State Aid rules have been replaced 
by Subsidy Control.   
 
A subsidy is where a public authority such as central or local government provides 
support to an enterprise that gives them an economic advantage, this could be a 
grant, cash payment, a loan on favourable terms, or free use of office space or 
equipment. 
 
The Council has in place guidance on this and as part of the completion of the 
contract managers checklist, the implications of Subsidy Control should be 
considered. 
 
Advice specifically in relation to this, should be sought from the City Solicitor, and 
any decision as to whether something is a subsidy is decided by a panel 
comprising the City Solicitor, Chief Finance Officer and Director of Major 
Developments 
 

7.6 Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) 
 

 A Key Performance Indicator (KPI) is a measurable target that indicates how a 
supplier is performing in terms of meeting the goals set within the parameters of 
the contract. 
 
It is essential that KPI’s are fit for purpose and enable both the Council and the 
supplier to determine whether performance is at the required standard, as well as 
providing evidence to understand where there maybe issues and how these can 
be addressed.  
 
KPI’s should be reviewed as part of the ongoing contract management meetings 
and where necessary amended to reflect the current requirement. 
 
There is no minimum requirement as to the number of KPI’s a provision should 
have in place.  It is more essential to ensure that they provide meaningful 
information as well as being relevant and proportionate. 
  
Guidance in relation to KPI’s shows that the best plans use between five and 
seven KPIs to track and manage progress. It also references that the best 
structured KPI plans include each element of what is called “SMART” criteria: 
 

• Specific: define what each KPI is intended to measure, and why it is 
important 

• Measurable: KPIs should include standards for measurement 
• Achievable: the KPI should be a realistic, achievable goal 

36



Page 23 of 63 
 

• Relevant: KPIs are intended to move a business forward, so they need to 
be relevant to improving outcomes 

• Time-bound: it’s important to set a realistic time frame based on past 
performance, and make sure that the team sticks to the agreed-upon 
deadlines 

 
The Procurement Act 2023 (see section 9) requires at least three KPI’s in 
contracts with a value in excess of £5m must be set.  It is also a requirement that 
all these KPI’s are published on the relevant platform by way of a notice annually, 
and that the top three are identified and highlighted.  KPI’s will also need to be 
included within the original call for competition notice at the start of the 
procurement exercise as well as on termination too. Advice on this should be 
sought from the Procurement Manager in respect of this. 
 
 

7.7 External Grants/Funding 
 

 Some procurement exercises are wholly, or part funded through the use of 
external grants.  Whilst this is a most welcome source of funding it can bring about 
additional risks and requirements that the Council would not usually encounter.  
Some funding bodies will as part of the grant conditions, insist that a procurement 
is undertaken in a certain way or that an award cannot be made until they have 
received a detailed procurement report, and this has been signed off by them.  It 
is therefore crucial to understand what, if any, requirements are attached to the 
accepting of the external funding and how these impact on the Council’s usual 
route.   
 
The contract managers checklist has a section for this and as such, should 
capture all the relevant information, in order for an informed decision to be made.   
 
In addition, the Council has in place a Grants Register and this is held by Financial 
Services.  Guidance should be sought prior to the application for any external 
funding from Chief Finance Officer/Financial Services as detailed within FPR’s. 
 
 

7.8 Pre-Market Engagement 
 

 Prior to the commencement of any procurement activity, it can be advantageous 
to consult with suppliers in order to: 
 

• Gain an insight into what/where the market is currently and how that can 
be used to help shape the requirement being tendered 

• Help to shape, prepare and plan the procurement 
 
Section 9 of these CPR’s looks in more detail as to how legislation governs this 
process when above threshold.  However regardless of the value of the contract, 
the principle of being Open, Fair and Transparent should be applied regardless.   
 
Guidance should be sought from the Procurement Manager prior to any 
discussions being held with any supplier, the incumbent included. 
 

7.9 Appointment of Consultants/Agency Staff 
 

37



Page 24 of 63 
 

 Officers should consult with the Procurement Manager and/or Legal Services 
prior to the commencement of any engagement with a third party (Agency or a 
Consultant directly).   
 
The contract managers checklist should be completed and circulated along with 
any specific terms and conditions to which the third parties are insisting the 
Council are signed up too.  These can then be reviewed, and any risks highlighted 
to the contracting officer.   
 
Where risks are identified, these should be reviewed by the relevant Assistant 
Director, and it is their decision as to whether the appointment is to be made.  
This decision should be captured on the contract managers checklist. 
 
An assessment will also need to be undertaken in respect of IR35 and Human 
Resources will be able to support this process – again this is captured on the 
checklist.  
 
Each appointment of an individual consultant will be viewed as a separate 
contract and as such the thresholds as detailed within paragraph 4.1 will apply. 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

38



Page 25 of 63 
 

8. Below Threshold Processes 
 

8.1 Overview 
 

 Where the value of the provision being procured is below the relevant threshold 
then the Council set thresholds will apply as shown in Section 4.  Officers must 
not sub-divide requirements in order to circumvent the relevant regulations.  The 
principles of above threshold procurement apply and should be adhered to – 
Open, Fair and Transparent. 
 
In general, the use of a Standard Questionnaire (SQ) or any assessment of 
bidders in order to reduce the numbers of those bidders being invited to the tender 
stage is not allowed for, albeit there are certain exceptions to this.  It is however 
acceptable for bidders to be asked “suitability” questions but these need to be 
relevant to the provision being procured and also proportionate.  Advice can be 
sought from the Procurement Manager as to the suitability of the questions being 
proposed and the use of an SQ. 
 

8.2 Goods, Services & Light Touch Regime  
 

 The following all relates to the procuring of goods, services and light touch regime.   
 
Goods are items that are usually (but not always) tangible, such as office 
equipment, fleet, or IT Hardware. 
 
Services are activities provided by other people, such as surveys, project 
management, training.  
 
Light Touch Regime primarily covers off Social Care elements 
 
Taken together, it is the production, distribution, and consumption of goods and 
services which underpins all economic activity and trade. 
 
 

8.3 Direct Approach under £5k     
 

 A direct approach can be made to one single supplier.  You cannot make an 
approach to multiple suppliers separately.   
 
Officers will be expected to undertake a review of any T&C’s being imposed by 
the supplier in order to ensure that the Council isn’t exposed to unnecessary risk 
etc.  There is no need for the contract managers checklist to be completed, an 
award notice to be published or an entry made on the contracts register.  
However, there is the need for a Purchase Order to be raised. 
 

8.4 Direct Approach over £5k but below Relevant Council Set Threshold 
 

 A direct approach can be made to one single supplier.  You cannot make an 
approach to multiple suppliers separately.  Please see section 4.1 for the 
relevant contract value levels. 
 
The contract managers checklist needs to be completed prior to contact being 
made with the supplier so as to ensure that all the relevant sections are covered. 

39



Page 26 of 63 
 

Ideally, the direct approach RFQ template should be issued to the supplier along 
with the form of contract (T&C’s) and other relevant appendices where necessary.   
 
The template should include suitable assessment questions to which the supplier 
is expected to respond.  This will then form part of the contract and will enable all 
parties to see what the requirement of the Council was and how the supplier has 
stated they will ensure this is delivered.  
 
This can then be emailed to the supplier for completion with a required return 
date.  A review of the response should be undertaken by the contract manager to 
ensure that it demonstrates compliance with the requirement and that it is detailed 
enough to ensure that the contract can be managed effectively.  Clarifications can 
be sought where needed from the supplier.  Once it is deemed compliant then the 
Contract Manager should contact the Procurement Manager to ask for a formal 
award letter to be issued to the supplier and Legal Services should be supplied 
with all the relevant information in order for the contract to be populated.  This will 
include all the documents issued to the supplier along with their responses  
 
Once the contract has been signed, the contracts register needs to be updated 
and this is the responsibility of the contract manager.  A copy of the contract 
should be kept by the contracts manager as well as one also being lodged with 
Legal Services and the final copy being issued to the supplier. 
 
A purchase order should also be raised in respect of the contract being let and 
advice on this can be sought from Financial Services. 
 

8.5 Request for Quotation over £5k but below Relevant Council Set Threshold 
 

 Where the market is not known or there is a concern in relation to Best Value 
being achieved etc., Officers are required to follow the process set out within 8.6 
below rather than that detailed in 8.3/8.4 above. 
 

8.6 Request for Quotation over Relevant Council Set Threshold but below 
Threshold  
 

 A quotation exercise is to be undertaken using the Council’s RFQ template.  This 
process is to be undertaken electronically utilising the Council’s procurement 
portal. Guidance on this should be obtained from the Procurement Manager as it 
is their responsibility to create the specific tender portal 
 
The contract managers checklist should be completed and circulated to the 
relevant officers and all responses incorporated within the RFQ template where 
applicable. 
 
A minimum of 4 suppliers should be selected to provide quotations, of which at 
least 2 should be “local”, as defined within the Local Policy (see section14).  
Where less than the four submit a quotation, the process can still continue but it 
should be noted that an award does not have to made if quotations received are 
not deemed suitable.  
 
A formal assessment criterion needs to be determined and this should be split 
between price and quality.  There is no corporate approach to this, it is based on 
a bespoke case by case basis and should always be relevant and proportionate 

40



Page 27 of 63 
 

to the contract being let.  The Procurement Manager can provide examples of 
previously used criteria and help shape these to fit the provision being tendered. 
 
Once all the documentation has been finalised and signed off as required, then 
the Procurement Manager will upload to the electronic procurement portal.  The 
selected suppliers will then be found on the system and will be formally invited to 
partake in the procurement activity.   
 
The portal will be “live” for a minimum of 4 weeks but again this will depend on 
the complexity of what is being tendered.  The Procurement Manager will be 
responsible for the monitoring of the portal and will download all clarifications 
received from bidders.  The Procurement Manager will then utilise a Q&A log 
which will capture all clarifications and ensure that all bidders see all 
correspondence.  Only commercially sensitive clarifications/questions will be 
answered directly to the supplier and a determination on this status will be 
undertaken by the Procurement Manager in conjunction with the City Solicitor. 
 
A deadline for clarifications from bidders will be set (usually a week before the bid 
deadline) as well as a deadline for bids being submitted.   
 
No late submissions will be accepted. 
 
The evaluation of submissions will be undertaken as details of which are set out 
in these CPR’s. 
 
Once the contract has been signed, the contracts register needs to be updated 
and this is the responsibility of the contract manager.  A copy of the contract 
should be kept by the contracts manager as well as one also being lodged with 
Legal Services and the final copy being issued to the supplier. 
 
A purchase order should also be raised in respect of the contract being let and 
advice on this can be sought from Financial Services. 
 
There is also the option, as there is with all procurement, where the marketplace 
is unknown, or Officers feel that it would be advantageous for an “open” process 
to be followed.  This will still be undertaken in the same way as detailed above 
but rather than invite a selected number of suppliers to bid for the provision, a 
contract notice is issued for below threshold value and the opportunity is opened 
up to any supplier within the marketplace. Advice will need to be sought from the 
Procurement Manager prior to the commencement of any activity.  
 

 Agency Staff & Consultants 
 

8.7 Less than £5,000  
 

 A direct approach can be made to one agency or consultant, but the appointing 
officer must be able to demonstrate value for money (the criteria for this should 
be based on the appointing officer’s knowledge of the marketplace etc). 
Discussion with HR is required to compliance with IR35.  Officers will be expected 
to undertake a review of any T&C’s being imposed by the supplier in order to 
ensure that the Council isn’t exposed to unnecessary risk etc.  There is no need 
for the contract managers checklist to be completed or an entry made on the 
contracts register.  However, there is the need for a Purchase Order to be raised. 
 

41



Page 28 of 63 
 

8.8 £5,001 to Threshold for Goods & Services 
 

 A direct approach can be made to one agency or consultant, but the appointing 
officer must be able to demonstrate value for money (as per above). Completion 
of the contract managers checklist is required and where possible the relevant 
T&Cs should be circulated with this for review by Legal and Financial Services.  
Discussion with HR is required to compliance with IR35, where applicable.  The 
appointment needs to be entered on the Council’s contracts register and a 
purchase order raised. 
 
Where a direct approach is not being followed then the process as detailed within 
paragraph 8.6 above should be adhered too. 
 

 Recruitment Agencies 
 

8.9 Less than £5,000  
 

 A direct approach can be made to one agency or consultant, but the appointing 
officer must be able to demonstrate value for money. Officers will be expected to 
undertake a review of any T&C’s being imposed by the supplier in order to ensure 
that the Council isn’t exposed to unnecessary risk etc.  There is no need for the 
contract managers checklist to be completed or an entry made on the contracts 
register.  However, there is the need for a Purchase Order to be raised. 
 

8.10 £25,001 to £50,000 
 

 A direct approach can be made to one agency or consultant, but the appointing 
officer must be able to demonstrate value for money. Completion of the contract 
managers checklist is required and where possible the relevant T&Cs should be 
circulated with this for review by Legal and Financial Services.  The appointment 
needs to be entered on the Council’s contracts register and a purchase order 
raised. 
 
Where a direct approach is not being followed then the process as detailed within 
paragraph 8.6 above should be adhered too. 
 

8.11 £50,001 to Threshold for Goods & Services  
 

 The process as detailed within paragraph 8.6 above will need to be adhered too. 

8.12 Frameworks, Dynamic Purchasing Systems & Dynamic Markets 
 

 As detailed in paragraph 6.4 within these CPR’s, the use of the above is 
permitted. 
 
There are no statutory thresholds in place in respect of the processes to be 
followed whilst using frameworks. So, whilst in essence, you can award a contract 
via a framework for any value, each framework provider will set their own rules 
as to how the provision must be used.  This may mean that some of the following 
apply, however, please note that this list is not exhaustive, and guidance should 
always be sought from the Procurement Manager prior to the commencement of 
any engagement with either a framework provider or individual supplier. 
 

• Some will have specific value bands especially with regard to works 
contracts 

42



Page 29 of 63 
 

• Some will allow for a direct call-off/approach from the framework 
• Some will allow for only further competition to be undertaken  
• Some will allow for the formation of your own form of contract i.e. specific 

clauses as allowed for within a NEC4/JCT  
 
Legislation in respect of Dynamic Purchasing Systems and Dynamic Markets is 
slightly different to that of frameworks as detailed above under the new PA23 and 
prior to the use of either of these routes, advice should be sought from the 
Procurement Manager. 
  

 Works 
 

 The following paragraphs relate to the procuring of works.   
 
Works is defined as a contract issued to carry out construction, installation, 
erection, repair, renovation, maintenance, alteration of any movable or 
immovable property.  
 

8.13 Direct Approach under £5k 
 

 Officers will be expected to undertake a review of any T&C’s being imposed by 
the supplier in order to ensure that the Council isn’t exposed to unnecessary risk 
etc.  There is no need for the contract managers checklist to be completed or an 
entry made on the contracts register.  However, there is the need for a Purchase 
Order to be raised. 
 
 

8.14 Direct Approach over £5k but below £1,000,000 
 

 A direct approach can be made to one single supplier.  You cannot make an 
approach to multiple suppliers separately.  The contract managers checklist 
needs to be completed prior to contact being made with the supplier so as to 
ensure that all the relevant sections are covered. The direct approach RFQ 
template should be issued to the supplier along with the form of contract (T&C’s).  
Once the contract has been signed, then the contracts register needs to be 
updated and a purchase order raised. 
 
 

8.15 Request for Quotation over £1,000,001 but below £2,500,000  
 

 A quotation exercise to be undertaken using the Council’s RFQ template.  This 
process is to be undertaken electronically utilising the Council’s procurement 
portal.  A minimum of 3 suppliers should be selected to provide quotations, all of 
which should be “local”, as defined within the Local Policy (see section 14).  It 
should be noted that the process can still continue should less than the 3 suppliers 
submit a quotation.  Once the contract has been signed, then the contracts 
register needs to be updated. 
 
 

8.16 Request for Quotation over £2,500,001 but Threshold 
 

 A quotation exercise to be undertaken using the Council’s RFQ template.  This 
process is to be undertaken electronically utilising the Council’s procurement 
portal.  A minimum of 4 suppliers should be selected to provide quotations, all of 

43



Page 30 of 63 
 

which should be “local”, as defined within the Local Policy (see section 14).  It 
should be noted that the process can still continue should less than the 4 suppliers 
submit a quotation.  Once the contract has been signed, then the contracts 
register needs to be updated. 
 
There is also the option as there is with all procurement where the marketplace 
is unknown, or Officers feel that it would be advantageous for an “open” process 
to be followed.  This will still be undertaken in the same way as detailed above 
but rather than invite a selected number of suppliers to bid for the provision, a 
contract notice is issued for below threshold value and the opportunity is opened 
up to any supplier within the marketplace. Advice will need to be sought from the 
Procurement Manager prior to the commencement of any activity.  
 

8.17 Request for Quotation over £5k but below Threshold 
 

 There is the option that where there is a concern in relation to undertaking a Direct 
Approach, Officers can follow an “open” process.  This will still be undertaken in 
the same way as detailed above (para 8.11 to 8.13) but rather than invite a 
selected number of suppliers to bid for the provision, a contract notice is issued 
for below threshold value and the opportunity is opened up to any supplier within 
the marketplace. Advice will need to be sought from the Procurement Manager 
prior to the commencement of any activity.  
 

8.18 Communication With and Clarification of Tender Documents by Bidders 
 

 No form of communication is allowed for with bidders other than via the electronic 
procurement portal.  If site visits are contemplated for within the tender process, 
lead officers should ensure that minimal communication is undertaken and that 
where clarifications are sought from the bidder these are requested to be 
submitted through the electronic procurement portal.  These will then be 
responded to by following the protocol as outlined below. 
 
Bidders are allowed to seek clarity on the information included within the tender 
documentation. Clarifications can only be made electronically through the 
procurement portal.  If Bidders seek clarification via any other method, then no 
response will be given, and they will be asked to submit via the portal. 
 
Where clarifications are received the use of Q&A log will be required and this will 
detail the clarification sought and the Council’s response.  It will not detail who 
raised the clarification, but the Q&A log must be shared with all bidders. 
 
Clarifications will have to be submitted within the permitted timeframe detailed 
within the tender documents.  
 

8.19 Evaluation Process and Role of Evaluation Team Members 
 

 Where tender submissions are received, they will need to be formally reviewed 
and assessed in accordance with the selection and/or award criteria laid out 
within the tender documents.  These Officers will need to ensure that they have 
read and fully understand the tender documents issued and will be required to 
have a training/refresher session with the Procurement Manager to ensure that 
they aware of the requirements of evaluating tender submissions. 
 

44



Page 31 of 63 
 

Evaluations will be based on the requirements as detailed within the relevant 
tender documents but in general will be based on the following: 
 

• A price/quality split which has been set in order to provide the most 
economical tender being awarded 

• A set of assessment questions in relation to the quality submission, each 
of which will have weighting/score attached to it 

• An overall scoring matrix which will determine whether the submission is 
non-complaint to excellent. This will be applied to the question weighting 
to determine its score per question then added together to provide an 
overall score 
 

It is the role of the Evaluation Team Members to undertake the initial review and 
ghost marking on an individual basis prior to a moderation/scoring meeting being 
held. 
 
They will also be expected to complete an evaluators scoresheet which will 
provide comprehensive reasoning and justification as to why the score attributed 
to each supplier’s assessment question was as such. 
 
 

8.20 Clarification of Submissions by Evaluators 
 

 Where submissions are reviewed, and the evaluators need to clarify any elements 
of the submission with Bidders this will be undertaken via the electronic 
procurement portal.  A Q&A log will be produced for each individual bidder, and 
they will be asked to respond to this within a detailed timeline.  This will usually 
be no longer than one working day, given that clarifications will be based on 
information they should have to hand.  They are not being asked to redraft their 
submissions.   
 
All Q&A logs will be shared with all evaluation team members regardless of who 
has raised the clarification. 
 
Advice on responses given may be required from other services not formally part 
of the evaluation team i.e. Finance and Legal and this will be permitted. 
 
 

8.21 Presentations 
 

 The use of presentations is permitted where it is deemed proportionate and 
relevant to the procurement activity being undertaken.  It will be a requirement of 
the tender documentation to include full details of the process.  This will include 
but not be limited to the following: 
 

• Setting the presentation question 
• scoring attributable to the presentation question set  
• mechanism for how the presentation will work  

 
 

8.22 Moderation/Scoring Meeting 
 

 Once all submissions have been evaluated/reviewed individually by the team then 
a moderation meeting will be held whereby the scores will be discussed to ensure 

45



Page 32 of 63 
 

that there are no major discrepancies.  Depending on the detail held within the 
tender documentation this meeting will either be to moderate the scores so that 
they are within one mark of each in order to ensure consistency or be to discuss 
each question and agree to an agreed score.  Details of this process will be 
detailed within the relevant tender documentation issued as part of the 
procurement process. 
 
The meeting will require all evaluators to attend and will be chaired by the 
Procurement Manager 
 

8.23 Award 
 

 Once the submissions have been fully appraised/reviewed and the contract 
manager/lead officer satisfied with the outcome then the formal award can be 
made.  The Procurement Manager will issue a letter to all suppliers who have bid 
informing them of the outcome. 
 
Direct Approach – letter issued to the successful supplier notifying them of our 
intention to enter into contract with them based on their submission 
 
Quotation exercise (under threshold) – letter issued to the successful supplier 
notifying them of our intention to enter into contract with them based on their 
submission.  Letters also issued to the unsuccessful suppliers detailing their 
scoring for each question along with those of the successful supplier.  In addition, 
feedback will be given as to why it was deemed that their submission could only 
score as it did. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

46



Page 33 of 63 
 

9. Above Threshold Processes 
 

9.1 Overview 
 

 Above threshold procurement is determined by following the requirements set out 
within the relevant legislation. 
 
Where the procurement activity has commenced prior to the 24th February 2025, 
then it will be subject to the requirements laid out within Public Contract 
Regulations (2015). 
 
All procurement activity commenced after this date will be subject to the 
Procurement Act 2023. 
 
There are some significant differences between the two and the following 
paragraphs detail the high-level processes which need to be adhered in respect 
of both.  Further advice should be sought from the Procurement Manager prior to 
the commencement of any procurement activity. 
 

 Public Contract Regulations (2015) 
 

9.2 Pre-Market Engagement  
 

 Premarket engagement is allowed for within the regulations and allows for the 
consultation of suppliers (both incumbent and prospective) in order for officers to: 
 

• understand fully what the market can deliver in general terms in relation 
to the provision being procured   

• prepare and plan the procurement activity 
• use experts to help inform and refine the provision being procured 

 
It is essential that all steps possible are taken to ensure that the procurement 
legal requirements of being Transparent, Proportionate and Non-Discriminatory 
are adhered to at all times.  Officers also need to ensure that any engagement 
doesn’t lead to distortion of competition by being shaped by one supplier more 
than another.  The provision/requirement whilst taking into account feedback from 
the marketplace needs to primarily still be based on and meet the full needs of 
the Council. 
 
Full minutes/comprehensive notes must be kept of the meetings held and ideally 
where possible all suppliers should be asked the same initial questions.  It is 
essential that this is undertaken as these can be disclosable and may be 
appended to the tender documentation issued to be fully transparent. 
 
Ideally a Prior Information Notice (PIN) should be published by the Procurement 
Manager notifying the market that this process is being undertaken and asking 
those that interested in taking part register their interest.   
 
The Procurement Manager should always be consulted prior to any engagement 
with the market in relation to a forthcoming tender. 
 
 
 

9.3 Open Process 

47



Page 34 of 63 
 

 

 The “open” procedure is where there is a limited marketplace, and it is not 
anticipated that there will be a high volume of interest.  It is a one stage process 
which assesses both the history/standing of the contractor alongside its ability to 
deliver the specification.  Submissions are undertaken by way of Invitation to 
Tender.  The documentation is a combination of the Selection Questionnaire (SQ) 
and Invitation to Tender (ITT) used within the restricted process. 
 

9.4 Restricted Process   
 

 The “restricted” procedure is where it is anticipated that the marketplace is large, 
and interest will be high.  This route allows for the shortlisting of suppliers by way 
of an assessment using a standard selection questionnaire followed by the 
completion of an ITT by those that have been selected for the second stage.  The 
Standard Selection Questionnaire (SQ) is a standard document which assesses 
various general aspects of the contractor such as: 
 

• Financial standing 

• Company policies i.e. Equality & Diversity, Health & Safety 

• Previous relevant experience 
 

It should be noted that any criteria assessed at this stage cannot be used again 
at ITT (Award stage). 
 

9.5 Procurement Notices (PIN, VEAT, Contract Notice, Award Notice)  
 

 PCR’s 2015 mandate the use of various procurement notices at various stages 
of the procurement.  The publication of these is the responsibility of the 
Procurement Manager. 
 
The main notices used are: 
 

• PIN – prior information notice – this can be used as a notice to alert the 
marketplace that the Council is potentially looking to procure the provision 
within the next 12 months.  It can also be used as a call for expressions 
of interest in relation to pre-market engagement 

• Contract Notice – this notice is the formal notification to the marketplace 
that the proposed procurement activity is to commence 

• Award Notice – this is the notice that informs the marketplace that the 
procurement activity has concluded and that an award has been made 

• VEAT – voluntary ex anti notice - this notice is to inform the marketplace 
of the intention to enter into a contract where no formal procurement 
activity has been followed. 

 

9.6 Standard Selection Questionnaire (SQ) 
 

 Following the PCR 2015 coming into force there is a fundamental change in the 
use of standard selection questionnaire.  Historically, Councils’ have used these 
documents as a way of shortlisting for procurement exercises under thresholds.  
The legislation now clearly states that this is no longer possible for under 
threshold exercises. 
 
Where the tender process is over the relevant threshold and a restricted process 
is being followed, a SQ can be used.  This is a standard document which takes a 

48



Page 35 of 63 
 

historic look at the operation of the supplier, from both a financial and experience 
perspective.  Information assessed at this stage cannot then be assessed at the 
ITT stage 
 
The use of the SQ enables a reduction in the number of bidders to be undertaken.  
It is essential though that any shortlisting be identified within the contract notice 
and in the SQ itself.  This can either be a range or an exact number. 
 

9.7 Invitation to Tender (ITT) 
 

 All exercises must be conducted by way of using the electronic portal.  No other 
method is permitted.  Submissions received after the deadline will not be 
considered under any circumstances. 
 
The standard template must be used, and this has to be finalised prior to the 
publication of the contract notice 
 
The ITT must: 

• Include a full specification which must describe clearly the Council’s 
requirements in sufficient detail to enable the submission of competitive 
offers.  In preparing the specification, the Lead Officer must have regard 
to any guidance given from a procurement perspective. 

• It should also clearly state that the Council is not bound to accept any 
tender submission. 

• Detail the award criteria to be applied when evaluating the submission 

• Clearly state that submissions will only be accepted electronically 
 

 

9.8 Evaluation Process and Role of Evaluation Team Members 
 

 Where tender submissions are received (SQ and/or ITT), they will need to be 
formally reviewed and assessed in accordance with the selection and/or award 
criteria laid out within the tender documents.  These Officers will need to ensure 
that they have read and fully understand the tender documents issued and will be 
required to have a training/refresher session with the Procurement Manager to 
ensure that they aware of the requirements of evaluating tender submissions. 
 
Evaluations will be based on the requirements as detailed within the relevant 
tender documents but in general will be based on the following: 
 

• A price/quality split which has been set in order to provide the most 
economical tender being awarded 

• A set of assessment questions in relation to the quality submission, each 
of which will have weighting/score attached to it 

• An overall scoring matrix which will determine whether the submission is 
non-complaint to excellent. This will be applied to the question weighting 
to determine its score per question then added together to provide an 
overall score 
 

It is the role of the Evaluation Team Members to undertake the initial review and 
ghost mark on an individual basis prior to a moderation/scoring meeting being 
held. 
 

49



Page 36 of 63 
 

They will also be expected to complete an evaluators scoresheet which will 
provide comprehensive reasoning and justification as to why the score attributed 
to each supplier’s assessment question was as such. 
 
Evaluating Officers must justify all comments on an objective basis. The more 
contentious the comments the fuller the justification needs to be. Evaluating 
Officers must take great care to ensure that the scores match the written record 
for each evaluation and that there is consistency across all Bidders. It is essential 
that the written record demonstrates why the highest scoring Bidder provided the 
best submission. 
 
Evaluating Officers must ensure that all scoring commentary is in a professional, 
business-like language which helps to justify the score that has been awarded. 
Evaluating Officers should be aware that their commentary may be disclosed to 
Bidders if there is a legal challenge or a Freedom of Information request. 
Evaluating Officers should be aware that the evaluation process is an activity 
where the risk of legal challenge is high. 
 

9.9 Communication With and Clarification of Tender Documents by Bidders 
 

 No form of communication is allowed for with bidders other than via the electronic 
procurement portal.  If site visits are allowed for within the tender process that 
lead officers should ensure that minimal communication is undertaken and that 
where clarifications are sought from the bidder these are requested to be 
submitted through the electronic procurement portal.  These will then be 
responded too by following the protocol as outlined below. 
 
Bidders are allowed to seek clarity on the information included within the tender 
documentation. Clarifications can only be made electronically through the 
procurement portal.  If Bidders seek clarification via any other method, then no 
response will be given, and they will be asked to submit via the portal. 
 
Where clarifications are received the use of Q&A log will be required and this will 
detail the clarification sought and the Council’s response.  It will not detail who 
raised the clarification, but the Q&A log must be shared with all bidders. 
 
Clarifications will have to be submitted within the permitted timeframe detailed 
within the tender documents.  
 

9.10 Presentations 
 

 The use of presentations is permitted where it is deemed proportionate and 
relevant to the procurement activity being undertaken.  It will be a requirement of 
the tender documentation to include full details of the process.  This will include 
but not be limited to the following: 
 

• Setting the presentation question 
• scoring attributable to the presentation question set  
• mechanism for how the presentation will work  

 

9.11 Moderation/Scoring Meeting 
 

 Once all submissions have been evaluated/reviewed individually by the team then 
a moderation meeting will be held whereby the scores will be discussed to ensure 

50



Page 37 of 63 
 

that there are no major discrepancies.  Depending on the detail held within the 
tender documentation this meeting will either be to moderate the scores so that 
they are within one mark of each in order to ensure consistency or be to discuss 
each question and agree to an agreed score.  Details of this process will be 
detailed within the relevant tender documentation issued as part of the 
procurement process. 
 
The meeting will require all evaluators to attend and will be chaired by the 
Procurement Manager 
 

9.12 Alcatel (Standstill Period) 
 

 Where the contract value is over the relevant threshold then the Alcatel period 
(which is a mandatory standstill period) will need to be followed.  This is a 10-day 
period (calendar not working days) between the issuing of a 
successful/unsuccessful letter and the formal award letter.  Allowance needs to 
be made for any bank holidays. 
 
During this period, no contact can be made with the successful tenderer.  The 
purpose of the standstill period is to give unsuccessful bidders some time to 
consider the feedback and seek further information, this is also the time when an 
unsuccessful tenderer can legally challenge the proposed award.  They have to 
do so in writing formally within the 10-day period.  If a “challenge” is made, then 
the Authority has to respond as soon as is possible (preferably within 24 hours of 
receipt of the letter) in order to not delay the pending award of contract 
 
The City Solicitor and the Procurement Manager are responsible for responding 
to any challenges received.  It is their decision in conjunction with the relevant 
Director for the service area as to whether the challenge is to be defended.   Their 
combined decision is final and will be communicated to all suppliers/contractors 
involved where appropriate 
 

9.13 Award 
 

 Once the Alcatel period has passed without an upheld challenge being made, 
then the award letter can be issued.  This will be undertaken by the Procurement 
Manager 
 
Once the award letter has been issued and formal confirmation of acceptance of 
the appointment has been received from the successful bidder then a formal 
contract award notice will be issued.  This will be undertaken by the Procurement 
Manager 
 

9.14 Regulation 84 Report 
 

 This report is a requirement of the regulations and captures a full audit trail of the 
process followed throughout the procurement exercise.  It doesn’t have to be 
published but has to be available if requested to be disclosed.  The Procurement 
Manager will complete this report and hold on file.   
 

  Procurement Act 2023 
 

9.15 Procurement Notices (Pre-Commencement; Award; During Contract)  
 

51



Page 38 of 63 
 

 One of the most significant changes within the new Procurement Act is the 
number of new notices that contracting authorities legally have to produce when 
undertaking a procurement activity. 
 
There are a significant number of Notices that could be required to be published 
in respect of each procurement activity (contract value dependant) and one of 
these is a requirement to detail significant advance planning (a minimum of 18 
months) of procurement activity. Failure to comply with these requirements will 
result in a high risk of legal challenge  
 
The following tables shows all the notices that could be required to be published 
in respect of both the procurement process and also following award, as part of 
the contract management of the provision. 
 
The Procurement Manager will publish these notices as required.  However, it is 
the responsibility of the Contract Manager and their Assistant Director to ensure 
that all information required to complete this function is provided in a timely 
manner to the Procurement Manager.  It is not the responsibility of the 
Procurement Manager to populate or chase for this information. 
 
Notices numbered 1 to 5 are all published prior to the “go live” date of the tender 
process 
 
Notices numbered 6 to 8 are all part of the “live” tender process 
 
Notices numbered 9 to 11 are all part of the award of contract stage 
 
Notices numbered 12 to 16 are all part of the contract delivery stage 
 
Notices numbered 17 to 18 are all part of the termination process 
 

 Notice 
 

£25k to 
Threshold 
(Goods & 
Services) 
 

Threshold 
(Goods & 
Services) 
to £1m 

Above 
£1m 

 
1 

Pipeline Notice (Corporate 
Procurement Service – 
annually)  
 

 Advisable  Yes 
(£2m) 

 
2 

Pre-Market engagement 
activity 
 

  Yes Yes 

3 Lot Division 
 

  Yes Yes 

4 SME barrier removal 
 

 Yes Yes 

5 Preliminary Market 
Engagement Notice  
 

 Yes Yes 

6 Tender Notice  
 

 Yes Yes 

7 Dynamic Market Notice  
 

 Yes Yes 

52



Page 39 of 63 
 

8 Transparency Notice  
 

 Yes Yes 

9 Assessment Summary  
 

 Yes Yes 

10 Contract Award Notice  
 

 Yes Yes 

11 Contract Notice Details 
 

If below 
threshold 
notice 
used 

Yes Yes 

12 Contract Performance 
Monitoring  
 

 Yes Yes 

13 KPI Publication (annually)  
 

  Yes 

14 Contract Performance Notice 
(annually)  
 

 If 
monitored 

Yes 

15 Contract Change Notice 
 

 Yes Yes 

16 Payment Compliance Notice 
(annually) 
 

Yes Yes Yes 

17 Contract Termination Notice 
(for any reason, including 
natural end)  
 

If below 
threshold 
notice 
used 

Yes Yes 

18 Procurement Termination 
Notice (for any reason other 
than award)  
 

If below 
threshold 
notice 
used 

Yes Yes 

 
Further information in relation to the above is available from the Procurement 
Manager. 
 
 

9.16 Open Process 
 

 The Open Procedure has been carried over from the current regime. It is the only 
one that has a prescribed form in the Act — namely, a single stage tendering 
procedure without a restriction on who can submit tenders.  
 
The main difference between the current Open Procedure and the new one is that 
the minimum time limits set out between the publication of a contract notice and 
the deadline for the receipt of tenders is no longer procedure specific. Instead, 
time limits are generally dependent on other factors, as set out in s.54 of the Act. 
This means that the Open Procedure no longer has its own specific time limits. 
 
 

9.17 Competitive Flexible Process 
 

 This procedure is described in the Act as a competitive tendering procedure 
“which is such procedure as the contracting authority considers appropriate for 
the purpose of awarding the public contract”.  

53



Page 40 of 63 
 

 
In essence it could be used to construct a “restricted process” as previously 
allowed within PCR (2015). 
 
S.20 of the Act clarifies that when using this procedure, contracting authorities 
may: 

• limit the number of participating suppliers — either generally or in respect 
of particular tendering rounds or selection processes 

• provide for the refinement of award criteria 
• prevent participation of suppliers that didn’t submit a tender in an earlier 

round of tendering or were excluded following an earlier round 
• let a contract by using lots (to which the number of lots a supplier is bidding 

for can be limited). 
 

This represents a significant shift away from the current regime. There is no 
mandatory process for the procedure provided that it’s “a proportionate means of 
awarding the public contract, having regard to the nature, complexity and cost of 
the contract” (as stated in the Act). Again, there are no procedure specific time 
limits beyond the general time limits in s.54.  
 
This move away from a regulated framework for undertaking a procurement 
procedure is designed to offer more flexibility to contracting authorities and allow 
them to design their own procurement procedures that best fit the opportunity for 
which they are advertising. This helps to meet their needs without the contract in 
question being straitjacketed into a specific procedure. Also, a more complex 
procurement can require a more complex procurement procedure without any 
need to justify whether any gateway for such procedure is met. 
 
It should be noted, however, that such flexibility also places a significant burden 
on contracting authorities. A contracting authority must ensure that whatever 
process they design for a specific procurement complies with the general 
procurement objectives and meets the proportionality requirement mentioned 
above. Given the increased transparency requirements woven throughout the 
Act, there will be greater scrutiny on the contracting authority’s approach. 
 
Regulation 19 of the Procurement Regulations 2024 (which expands on a number 
of points in the Act) sets out what would be required in a tender notice for a 
competitive flexible procurement.  
 
These requirements include: 
 

• a description of the process that the procedure will follow 
• clarity on the number of suppliers that will be invited at different stages 
• any limits on the number of tenderers 
• how tenders can be submitted.  

 
This demonstrates a need for a fully realised process to be established prior to 
going to market. 
 
Advice should be sought from the Procurement Manager at the earliest 
opportunity to ensure compliance. 
 

9.18 Direct Award/Negotiated Procedure without Prior Publication 
 

54



Page 41 of 63 
 

 Direct awards are available in limited circumstances under the current regime as 
part of the Negotiated Procedure without Prior Publication.  
Under s.41, the new Act allows for direct awards — provided that one of the 
limited grounds in Schedule 5 is present. While this is relatively similar to the 
current regime, the direct award ability is widened out to additional abilities in s.42 
and s.43.  
 
It should be noted that this is not direct awards as allowed for under threshold 
values (i.e. Council set levels) and also those which are allowed within any 
framework arrangements. 
 

9.19 
 

Evaluation Process and Role of Evaluation Team Members 
  

 Where tender submissions are received, they will need to be formally reviewed 
and assessed in accordance with the selection and/or award criteria laid out 
within the tender documents.  These Officers will need to ensure that they have 
read and fully understand the tender documents issued and will be required to 
have a training/refresher session with the Procurement Manager to ensure that 
they aware of the requirements of evaluating tender submissions. 
 
Evaluations will be based on the requirements as detailed within the relevant 
tender documents but in general will be based on the following: 
 

• A price/quality split which has been set in order to provide the most 
economical tender being awarded 

• A set of assessment questions in relation to the quality submission, each 
of which will have weighting/score attached to it 

• An overall scoring matrix which will determine whether the submission is 
non-complaint to excellent. This will be applied to the question weighting 
to determine its score per question then added together to provide an 
overall score 

 
It is the role of the Evaluation Team Members to undertake the initial review and 
ghost mark on an individual basis prior to a moderation/scoring meeting being 
held. 
 
They will also be expected to complete an evaluators scoresheet which will 
provide comprehensive reasoning and justification as to why the score attributed 
to each supplier’s assessment question was as such. 
 
Evaluating Officers must justify all comments on an objective basis. The more 
contentious the comments the fuller the justification needs to be. Evaluating 
Officers must take great care to ensure that the scores match the written record 
for each evaluation and that there is consistency across all Bidders. It is essential 
that the written record demonstrates why the highest scoring Bidder provided the 
best submission. 
 
Evaluating Officers must ensure that all scoring commentary is in a professional, 
business-like language which helps to justify the score that has been awarded. 
Evaluating Officers should be aware that their commentary may be disclosed to 
Bidders if there is a legal challenge or a Freedom of Information request. 
Evaluating Officers should be aware that the evaluation process is an activity 
where the risk of legal challenge is high. 
 

55



Page 42 of 63 
 

9.20 Presentations 
 

 See paragraph 9.10 
 

9.21 Moderation/Scoring Meeting 
 

 See paragraph 9.11 
 

9.22 Clarification of Bids   
 

 See paragraph 9.12 
 

9.23 Award 
 

 This is one of the most significant areas of change within the new Act.   
 
Where previously the suppliers were notified whether they had been successful 
or not by way of a letter which then enacted the standstill period this is now 
replaced by the publication of an Assessment Summary Notice on the required 
procurement platform.  Once published this should be followed by letters being 
issued to each bidder as previously undertaken but only once the letters have 
been issued does the standstill period commence.  The standstill period has also 
been changed and this is now 8 working days rather than 10 calendar days. 
 
Once this period has been successfully navigated, then the contract needs to be 
issued for signing by both parties and only on completion of this (and within 30 
days of this being completed), is the Contract Award Notice published. 
 

9.24 Regulation 84 Report 
 

 This report is a requirement of the regulations and captures a full audit trail of the 
process followed throughout the procurement exercise.  It doesn’t have to be 
published but has to be available if requested to be disclosed.  The Procurement 
Manager will complete this report and hold on file.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

56



Page 43 of 63 
 

10. Light Touch Regime 
 

10.1 Overview 
 

 The light touch regime is a specific set of rules which covers certain service 
contracts that tend to be of low interest to competition.  These services replace 
those that prior to the PCRs (2015) were known as Part B services and include 
areas such as social, health and educational services as defined by Common 
Procurement Vocabulary (CPV) codes. 
 
The threshold for LTR procurements is detailed within Section 4. 
 
There are a number of regulations within the PA23 which clearly define how a 
LTR procurement should be undertaken.  Further guidance on this can be 
obtained from the Procurement Manager prior to the commencement of any 
related procurement activity. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

57



Page 44 of 63 
 

11. Contract Formalities 
 

11.1 Contract Register 
 

 The Contract Manager is responsible for ensuring that the Council’s contract 
register is kept up to date with all the relevant information pertaining to all 
contracts with a total value over £5,000 which fall within their remit.  This will 
be in relation to the initial entry following award (where the award has been made 
by way of a direct approach or via a framework provision) and also any 
subsequent modifications such as a variation and allowed for extensions.  Please 
note that all contracts mean: 
 

• procured the “normal” way via RFQ/Full Tender 
• procured via a framework 
• procured via a direct approach 
• procured which relate to agency or consultancy appointments 
• procured via an exception to the normal route 

 
However, where the initial procurement exercise was undertaken electronically 
(by way of a RFQ or full tender process or mini competition via a framework) it 
will be the responsibility of the Procurement Manager to populate the initial 
contract register entry and assign this to the named contract manager.  It will then 
be the contract manager’s responsibility to ensure that this is correct and assume 
responsibility for the entry moving forward. 
 
The Council’s contract register can be viewed at: 
 
www.eastmidstender.org  click view contract register 
 
Entries/amendments/updates will be made through the Council’s procurement 
portal, Pro Contract.  Log In (due-north.com) 
 
Guidance and training are available from the Procurement Manager. 
 

11.2 Contract Documentation 
 

 Contract Managers should ensure that contracts are in place clearly set out 
requirements in respect of contract management and performance, in addition to 
requirements re specification, pricing, business continuity and exit plan, where 
relevant. 
 
The Contract Manager is responsible for ensuring that all tender documentation 
originally issued, and the supplier’s submission is pulled together into the relevant 
contract template.  This should be undertaken in conjunction with Legal Services 
and a thorough check made to ensure that no amendments have been made to 
the original form of contract etc that has not been officially agreed too. 
Contract Managers will need to issue the contract to the supplier for signing and 
then on return ensure that two copies of the contract are signed/sealed as per 
paragraph 11.4 below.  Once fully signed by both parties, one copy should be 
issued to the supplier and the other lodged with Legal.  They should also ensure 
that they retain a copy of all contracts for which they are responsible to enable 
contract management and monitoring to be undertaken effectively and efficiently.   
 

11.3 Supplier/Sub-contractor/Supply Chain 

58

http://www.eastmidstender.org/
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login


Page 45 of 63 
 

 

 In accordance with relevant legislation every contract must state that the council 
will pay the supplier’s undisputed invoices within 30 days from receipt of a valid 
invoice. 
 
In addition, the contract should also require that the supplier has a responsibility 
to pay their sub-contracted suppliers within 30 days of them submitting an 
undisputed, valid invoice.  Please note that this is not 30 days from when the 
Council has paid the main supplier.  It should also be noted that this process 
should pass down through the supply chain. 
 

11.4 Contract Signing and Sealing Requirements 
 

  

Total 

Contract 

Value 

Method of 

Completion 

By Whom 

Up to 

£25,000 

Signature Service Manager with responsibility for 

the area 

£25,001 to 

£75,000 

Signature Assistant Director with responsibility 

for the area 

Above 

£75,000 

Signature/ Sealing Legal & Democratic Service 

Manager/City Solicitor 
 

11.5 Lodging of Contracts 
 

 Where possible all contracts should be lodged with Legal Services and a copy 
kept by the contract manager.  However, the minimum requirement in respect of 
the lodging of contracts is as follows: 
 
Total contract value over £75,000 
Once a contract or an agreement has been sealed, then legal services will retain 
one original copy to be allocated a deed packet number and then stored in the 
Deed Room, with another original copy to go to the other party(ies). Officers will 
then be notified of the deed packet number for your records.  The Contract 
Manager must keep a copy of any contract or agreement entered into, with a note 
confirming that the original is in the deed room with the relevant number so it can 
be traced if needed.  
 
Total contract value under £75,000 
Whilst it is not a requirement, it is good practice for any signed contract or 
agreements to store the original documents with Legal Services so that it can be 
allocated a deed packet number and then stored in the deed room, with the other 
original going to the other party(ies). Again, you will be given a deed packet 
number for records. It is advisable that the Contract Manager retains a copy of 
any contract or agreement entered into, with a note confirming that the original is 
in the deed room with the relevant number so it can be traced.  
 
 

 

 

59



Page 46 of 63 
 

12. Contract Management 
 

 Contract management must be an integral part of the consideration when seeking 
to award a new Contract. All contracts should have in place a named Contract 
Manager.  It is there responsibility to ensure that: 
 

• the contract delivers all the elements that have been tendered for 
• that suppliers are paid in a timely manner but only for services/works that 

have been delivered 
• that all contract related report information is provided in a timely manner 
• that the supplier has in place a dedicated contract manager 
• that contract management meetings are held, and the details recorded in 

accordance with the risk assessment of the contract 
• they know and understand their contract fully 
• they obtain all relevant certificates i.e. insurance on an annual basis 
• all associated costs, KPI’s, deliverables, requirement etc is reviewed on a 

regular basis and formally updated to reflect current position as and when 
required 
 

It should be noted that, whilst all of the above are elements that should be 
included within contract management, it should be set at a level that is 
proportionate and relevant to the provision being managed. 
 
All Contracts should contain a dispute resolution procedure. If a contractor raises 
a dispute, which is not clearly within the terms of a contract, the contract manager 
must not enter into any form of negotiation regarding a settlement until 
discussions have been held with the relevant Assistant Director, The City Solicitor 
and the Chief Finance Officer. 
 

12.1 Contract Management Risk Assessment  
 

 The following table, based on the Council’s Contract Tiering Tool, sets out the 
frequency of which contract management meetings should be undertaken.  The 
requirement for contract management meetings should be clearly set out in the 
contract documentation. 

Total Value of Contract 
(£) 
 

Process to Be Followed 

Value is Under Current 
Threshold for Goods & 
Services but includes 
for Works, LTR, 
Concessions etc. 
 

Six monthly contract meetings initially but can be 
flexed to annual if no issues or concerns with 
contract deliver. 
 
Where contract includes for delivery of specific 
events a formal post event debrief meeting should 
take place.  
 

Over threshold for 
goods & services but 
below £2.5m - Works 
Contract only  

Goods & Services should have in place quarterly 
contract management meetings initially but can be 
flexed to half yearly if no issues or concerns with 
contract delivery.   
 
Works will be monthly project meetings. 
 

60



Page 47 of 63 
 

Goods & Services over 
threshold plus works 
over £2.5m 
 

All contracts to be subject to tiering tool and 
ranked: 

• Bronze - Goods & Services should have in 
place quarterly contract management 
meetings initially but can be flexed to half 
yearly if no issues or concerns with 
contract delivery  

Works will be monthly project meetings. 
 

• Silver - Goods & Services should have in 
place monthly contract management 
meetings initially but can be flexed to half 
yearly if no issues or concerns with 
contract delivery  

Works will be monthly project meetings 
 

• Gold - Monthly contract management 
meetings should be in place for goods, 
services and works provisions. No 
allowance for meetings to be moved to less 
frequent. 
 

Where there is a proposal to move the meetings to 
a less frequent timeline, then a short evidence-
based report should be signed off by the 
appropriate Director. 
 

 
 
All Contracts should contain a dispute resolution procedure. If a contractor raises 
a dispute, which is not clearly within the terms of a contract, the contract manager 
must not enter into any form of negotiation regarding a settlement until 
discussions have been held with the relevant Assistant Director, The City Solicitor 
and the Chief Finance Officer initially. 
 

12.2 Contract Management Meetings 
 

 Contract Management Meetings should be subject to a formal agenda which is 
issued at least 3 working days in advance.  All relevant reports/information to be 
discussed should also be issued with the agenda so as to allow Officers to digest 
the information and proper scrutiny be undertaken during the meeting.  Agendas 
should contain standing items such as the following, however it should be 
accepted that not all will need to be discussed at all meetings. 
 

• Previous Action Points Update 

• Invoicing/costs 

• Delivering the requirement/compliance with specification 

• Performance 

• Risk Management 

• Issues 
 
Minutes and action points from the meetings should be issued within promptly 
(ideally within 2-3 working days) following the meeting taking place so as to 
enable them to be formally agreed by all parties and also to ensure that action 

61



Page 48 of 63 
 

points are reviewed and completed by the assigned person(s) where possible, 
prior to the next meeting. 
 
Performance management should also be discussed in detail at these meetings 
and where necessary any issues with performance addressed.   
 
An escalation procedure should also be in place for any disputes arising from the 
contract and where it is not possible for this to be resolved by the two contract 
managers. 
 
Internally contract management should form part of Directorate Management 
meetings as a standing item and evidence provided to these (or to the relevant 
Assistant Director) so that this can be clearly monitored. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

62



Page 49 of 63 
 

 

 

 

13. Contract Modifications 
 

 Modifications to contracts can be undertaken where the contract allows for this to 
happen and/or where it meets the strict requirements of the relevant procurement 
legislation under which the contract was procured – Public Contract Regulations 
2015 and Procurement Act 2023 
 
Any modifications to contract need to be formally captured within the contract 
documentation and as such, no agreement should be entered into without first 
consulting with the Procurement Manager and/or the City Solicitor 
 

13.1 Contract Extensions – included for within existing provision 
 

 Contract Extensions can only be entered into where the original contract has 
provision to do so.  It is the contract managers responsibility to ensure that they 
are aware of these provisions as well as the relevant clauses which pertain to the 
relevant notification periods that must be observed where an extension is to be 
granted.  It is also their responsibility to ensure that they have also discussed any 
related increases to cost/pricing schedules for the extension period and also any 
updates to the original contract i.e. specification requirement, KPI’s etc. 
 
The contract managers checklist for extensions/variations should be completed 
for these changes so that the relevant officers can ensure that the proposed 
changes are in line with legislation etc. 
 
Legal Services will draft the letter based on the information provided and pass 
this to the Contract Manager to issue. 
 

13.2 Contract Extensions – not included for within existing provision 
 

 Where there is no provision for an extension within the original contract then an 
extension cannot be entered into.  However, there are limited exceptions to this, 
and advice should be sought from the Procurement Manager and/or the City 
Solicitor prior to extending the current term i.e. where regulations are not 
breached in relation to modifications to contracts 
 
All contract extensions must be updated in the council’s contract register and a 
copy of the extension letter must be lodged with the original contract. 
 

13.3 Contract Variations 
 

 As with contract extensions, variations can only be made where there is provision 
within the original contract for them to be made.  Where provision has not been 
made, then prior to any being granted, compliance with the relevant legislation 
which was in place when the procurement was undertaken originally will need to 
be followed.  
 
Any variations that are undertaken should be done so via the contract managers 
checklist prior to any agreement being entered into with the supplier.   

63



Page 50 of 63 
 

 
Legal Services will provide the formal contract variation documentation once it 
has been determined that there are grounds within which the variation can be 
enacted.  
 
It is the responsibility of the contract manager to provide all the relevant 
information in order for this instruction to be undertaken and also for ensuring that 
the variation is formally signed/sealed by both parties involved. 
 
The contracts register should also where relevant be updated with any variations 
granted and the formal variation lodged with the original contract in Legal 
Services. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

64



Page 51 of 63 
 

14. Other Formalities 
 

14.1 Performance Bonds  
 

 A Performance Bond is an insurance policy under which the Council can make a 
claim if the supplier does not deliver the requirements as detailed within the 
contract.  It is there to provide protection against a level of costs arising from the 
Supplier’s failure. 
 
 
Factors to be considered as to whether a Performance Bond is required will 
include: 
 

• If the contract is of a high value 

• Where it’s a construction contract  

• Where it’s a high profile/high risk contract 

• If there is no retention on a contract 

• Any other factor considered to be relevant 
 

If a Performance Bond is required, then 10% is a reasonable standard percent to 
use in most circumstances, however, if there were significant contracts with a 
higher risk, it may mean that consideration is given to increasing this based on 
the circumstances. 
 
This will be included for within the tender documents issued and each bidder will 
have to agree to put this place prior to the commencement of any contract.  The 
form of contract/terms and conditions may also need to be amended to reflect the 
use of a performance bond.   
 
Advice should always be sought from Financial Services prior to the 
commencement of any procurement activity, by way of the contract managers 
checklist. 
 
 

14.2 Parent Company Guarantees 
 

 A Parent Company Guarantee is a legally binding contract between the council 
and the parent of a subsidiary company which is entering into the contract (the 
supplier).  If the supplier fails to do what it is supposed to do under the contract, 
then the Council can require the parent company to step in and ensure the 
provision is delivered. This will be included for within the tender documents issued 
and each bidder will have to agree to put this place prior to the commencement 
of any contract.  The form of contract/terms and conditions may also need to be 
amended to reflect the use of a performance bond.   
 
Advice should always be sought from Financial Services prior to the 
commencement of any procurement activity, by way of the contract managers 
checklist. 
 
 
 

14.3 Financial Reviews/Assessments - During Initial Contract Term & Prior to 
Extensions 
 

65



Page 52 of 63 
 

 During the lifetime of a contract regular reviews should be undertaken as to the 
financial standing of the supplier.  Whilst the following is proposed as a minimum 
process to follow, where appropriate and proportionate to the contract being 
delivered the frequency of reviews maybe regular.  
 
Instances when this may arise could be market intelligence showing a significant 
change in circumstances for the supplier; information received by way of contract 
monitoring meetings; whistle blowing by supplier employees; supply chain issues 
etc. All financial reviews will be undertaken by Financial Services. 
 
Financial Reviews as a minimum should be undertaken as follows: 
 

Total Value of Contract 
(£) 
 

Process to Be Followed 

Value is Under Current 
Threshold for Goods & 
Services but includes 
for Works, LTR, 
Concessions etc. 
 

Prior to the end of the initial period of the contract 
ending and an extension being granted but only 
where the contract manager has concerns. 
 

Over threshold for 
goods & services but 
below £1.5m - Works 
Contract only  
 

Prior to the end of the initial period of the contract 
ending and an extension being granted.  

Goods & Services over 
threshold plus works 
over £1.5m 
 

Based on the tiering tool and ranked: 
 

• Gold – financial review should be 
undertaken on an annual basis  

• Silver – financial review should be 
undertaken on a minimum 2-year period 

• Bronze – financial review should be 
undertaken on a minimum 3-year period 
 

  
 

14.4 Fraud & Corruption 
 

 All Officers involved with the procurement exercise must comply with the 
Council’s Code of Conduct and must not accept any gift, hospitality or reward 
from a supplier (or a related subsidiary of the company) whilst the procurement 
activity is in progress.  Where Officers believe that there could be a conflict, they 
should notify the Procurement Manager and/or City Solicitor immediately for them 
to make a decision as to whether it is appropriate that they are involved within the 
process further. 
 
Any gifts, hospitality and/or rewards should be recorded on the Council’s gifts and 
hospitality Register.  It should also be noted that this should be undertaken at any 
time, not just during a procurement process. 
 

14.5 Conflict of Interests 
 

 From time to time there will be conflicts of interests that occur during a 
procurement activity.  This can be where a close relative works for the supplier 

66



Page 53 of 63 
 

bidding for work etc.  Where an Officer feels there is a conflict, it is their 
responsibility to notify immediately their Line Manager and also the Procurement 
Manager.  A decision can then be made as to whether there is a conflict of 
interest.  In the event that it is deemed there is a conflict, then the officer will be 
removed completely from the process in order to remove any risk of challenge to 
the Council. Any advice on this should be given by the City Solicitor. 
 

14.6 Purchase Orders 
 

 A Purchase Order should be raised and issued to the supplier, for each contract 
that is entered into.  Financial Services will provide advice as to how this is to be 
done and for what amount etc. 
 
  

14.7 Local Policy 
 

 The Council has in place a Local Purchasing Strategy which details its 
requirements in detail.  However, the definition below defines what is meant by 
“local” and this is to be adhered too when selecting the required number of “local” 
suppliers when tendering under threshold provisions. 
 
 “Those suppliers whose trading premises are located within Lincolnshire and/or 
a 20-mile radius of the county of Lincolnshire’s boundary” 
 
 

14.8 Form of Contract/Terms & Conditions 
 

 Procurement activity can include various forms of contract/terms & conditions.  It 
is a legal requirement that the ones being used are published along with the initial 
contract notice.  It is therefore essential that discussions are held with both Legal 
and Finance as to the suitability of proposed forms/clauses so as to mitigate risk 
exposure to the Council.  The contract managers checklist should be completed, 
and this should detail the process followed in developing the form of contract.  
This form will then be used to help respond to any queries raised during the tender 
process. 
 
 

14.9 Risk Register 
 

 The contract manager must identify, minimise, and manage risk within the 
contract being procured. This includes supply risk, demand risks, process risks, 
control risks, environmental and social risks. If a risk is identified, it should be 
reported to the relevant Assistant Director or Director and then formally monitored 
as part of the contract management meetings (where there is no formal risk 
register in place). 
 
In line with it’s approach to contract management meetings and financial 
assessments, the Council utilises it’s contract tiering tool to identify where specific 
risk registers are required.  The requirements under the Lincoln Project 
Management Model (LPMM) are also taken into consideration. 
 

Total Value of Contract 
(£) 
 

Process to Be Followed 

67



Page 54 of 63 
 

Value is Under Current 
Threshold for Goods & 
Services but includes 
for Works, LTR, 
Concessions etc. 
 

No formal risk register required, unless identified 
as part of LPMM. 
 

Over threshold for 
goods & services but 
below £1.5m - Works 
Contract only  
 

No formal risk register required, unless identified 
as part of LPMM. 
 

Goods & Services over 
threshold plus works 
over £1.5m 
 

Based on the tiering tool and ranked: 
 

• Gold – formal risk register required during 
procurement process and as part of 
ongoing contract management for goods 
and services.  For works, risk register 
required as part of LPMM, during 
procurement activity and contract period.  

• Silver – formal risk register required during 
procurement process for goods and 
services. For works, risk register required 
as part of LPMM, during procurement 
activity and contract period. 

• Bronze - For works, risk register required 
as part of LPMM, during procurement 
activity and contract period. 

 
 
Where a formal risk register is required (based on the tiering tool) these should 
be put in place at the start of the procurement activity.  During the procurement 
activity they should be a standing item on the relevant operation team 
meeting/board meeting and any amendments captured as the procurement 
progresses.   
 
Following award, they should be a standing item on the contract management 
meeting and reviewed/updated as part of this process.  Where appropriate risks 
may need to be highlighted to Directorate Management meetings as part of the 
Contract standing item on those departmental meetings and appropriate action 
taken/recorded. 
 
 

14.10 Collateral Warranties  
 

 Collateral warranties are used as a supporting document to a primary contract 
where an agreement needs to be put in place with a third party outside of the 
primary contract. It can also provide the third-party contractual rights enabling it 
to claim for losses which would not otherwise be recoverable. 
 
The Council has standard Collateral Warranties.   
 
This will be included in the tender documents and terms and conditions, as 
required.  Advice can be sought from Legal Services in respect of this. 
 

68



Page 55 of 63 
 

 

 

15. Definitions 
 

 The following table provides definitions of the key terms that have been referred 
to within this document.  

  

 

Key Term Definition 
 

Award Criteria The criteria used by the Council in order to assess/evaluate 
the suppliers bids against the requirement detailed within 
the specification.  Criteria can be as follows but not limited 
to: 

• Price, total cost, schedule of rates 

• Quality such as resources, qualifications, H&S, 
innovation, risk mitigation, compliance with the 
requirement, deliverability of scheme, social value, 
staff experience, company experience, financial 
standing 

 

Bidders/Tenderers/Suppliers Those who will be engaged to deliver the provision being 
let 
 

Chief Finance Officer This is the Council’s statutory lead financial officer and 
designated S151 officer 
 

City Solicitor & Monitoring 
Officer 

This is the Council’s statutory lead legal officer 
 

CMT Corporate Management Team comprising: 
Chief Executive, Director of Housing & Investment, Director 
of Community & Environment and Director of Major 
Developments 
 

Code of Conduct 
 

Council’s policy for regulating the conduct of Officers and 
Members 
 

Collaborative Arrangements Use of a framework which is managed by a third party such 
as Pagabo, Espo OR a joint procurement exercise which 
involves two or more parties 
 

Constitution This is a document approved by Full Council which 
allocates the powers and responsibilities within the Council.  
It delegates authority to act to the Executive, Committees, 
Executive Councillors and Officers as well as regulating 
behaviours of individuals and groups through rules of 
procedure, codes and protocols 
 

Consultants An individual contracted for a specific length of time to work 
on a defined project/provision with clear outcomes to be 
delivered.  They are usually engaged to bring specialist 
skills or knowledge to the process and to bridge the gap 

69



Page 56 of 63 
 

within the Council where there is no ready access to 
employees with the relevant skillset, experience and/or 
capacity to undertake the requirements 
 

Contract Register An electronic register which is held by the Council and 
contains all contractual engagements entered into with a 
value of over £5,000. It is a legal requirement for this to be 
maintained 
 

Contract Tiering Tool?? The corporate mechanism to be used into the assess the 
contract management requirement of a contract 

Corporate Contract A contract used by more one than one department  
 

Deed A signed and sealed instrument containing a legal transfer, 
bargain or contract 
 

Dynamic Purchasing 
System 

A fully electronic compliant “Approved List” which operates 
on a similar basis to a framework other than suppliers can 
join at any point while the DPS is liv, subject to them 
meeting the relevant criteria 
 

Electronic Tendering A secure online facility for undertaking a procurement 
process 
 

Estimated Total Contract 
Value 

This is estimated value based on the annual spend x 
number of years the provision is in place for 
 

Evaluation Team This is the officers chosen to review, assess and score the 
submissions received in respect of the provision being 
procured 
 

Financial Procedure Rules These are the rules which outline officer responsibilities for 
financial matters 
 

Form of Contract This is a type of term and condition and as such is the 
legal/financial model which determines how the contract 
will operate 
 

Framework Agreements A legislation complaint agreement between a third party 
and a supplier(s), the purpose of which is to establish the 
terms under which subsequent procurement related 
appointments/awards can be made by a contracting 
authority 

Framework Supplier A supplier who has been successful in attaining a place on 
a framework 
 

Invitation to Tender A key stage/document within the tender process.  Used to 
assess the supplier’s suitability to deliver the stated 
provision 
 

Modification of a Contract Any change to the original provision of the tender and/or 
contract 
 

70



Page 57 of 63 
 

Parent Company Guarantee A contract which binds the parent of a subsidiary to act if 
the subsidiary fails to do so.   
 

PA23 Procurement Act 2023 is the legislation that sets out how 
procurement should be undertaken.  It comes into force 
with effect from 24th February 2025.  Any procurement 
undertaken from this date will be governed by these 
requirements. 
 

PCR 2015 Public Contract Regulations 2015 is the legislation that was 
embedded into UK law and set out how procurement 
should be undertaken.  Any above threshold procurement 
from February 2015 to 24th February 2025 is governed by 
the requirements of this. 
 

Performance Bond This is a form of insurance policy which provides protection 
to the contracting authority in the event that the supplier 
fails to deliver on the requirements of the contract 
 

Request for Quotation Procurement process for under threshold value exercises 
 

Seal Process by which a contract is “signed” when over a 
certain limit and when executing a deed 
  

Selection/Standard 
Questionnaire 

This is the government form which must be used for over 
threshold tenders to assess a suppliers suitability based on 
pre-determined selection criteria 
 

Small and Medium Sized 
Enterprises (SME’s) 

Any business with fewer than 250 employees and either an 
annual turnover of less than £45m or a total balance sheet 
of less than £40m 
 

Specification This is the council’s requirement in relation to the delivery 
of the provision being tendered for 
 

Teckal company This is a company set up by a contracting authority to 
deliver some of the Council’s functions.  It is as defined 
within PCR 2015 regulation 12 
 

Terms and Conditions These are the legal/financial related clauses which define 
and determine how the contract will be operated, and 
which govern all parties involved 
 

Total Contract Value This is the total value of the successful bidder’s response 
to the requirement being tendered 
 

TUPE Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) – this 
is the legislation that governs the process to be followed 
where staff are to be transferred from one supplier to 
another.  It is there to ensure that the rights of employees 
are transferred along with the business 
 

71



Page 58 of 63 
 

Value for Money This is where cost and quality combine to produce a 
service which meets the technical requirements of the 
provision as well as the cost at an acceptable level 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

16.0 Procurement Flow Chart 
 

 For ease of use the Procurement Flow Chart has been split in order to clearly 
capture the new processes for below threshold procurement in respect of 
Goods, Services & Light Touch Regime and Works.   
 
There is no detailed flow chart for processes over threshold under the 
Procurement Act 2023 given the potential variations/complexities around 
mandatory timelines.   
 

72



Page 59 of 63 
 

Procurement Flow Chart – Below Threshold for Goods, Services & Light Touch Regime   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Identify the need to Procure & estimate the total value of the contract 
Contract Value: annual value x contract length 

e.g.  £20 k spend per annum x 5-year contract = £100,000 total value of contract 

Total Value exceeds 
£5,001 but less than 
£20,000 (Goods) or 

£30,000 (Services/LTR) 

Competitive quotations are not required.  Review available 
frameworks (ESPO, OGC etc).  A direct approach to a single 

supplier is acceptable. A local supplier should be engaged where 
possible.  A formal contract STILL needs to be in place.  Where the 
market is unknown then the process for above £20,001(Goods) or 

£30,001 (Services) should be followed. 

Total Value exceeds 
£20,001 (Goods) or 

£30,001(Services/LTR) 
but is under the 

Threshold for Goods & 
Services 

 
 
 

Four quotations must be requested via the Request for Quotation 
documentation.  The process should be conducted electronically 

utilising the electronic procurement portal (currently Pro Contract).  
Where possible at least two of the quotes should be obtained from a 

local supplier.  

Completion of the Contract Managers 
checklist is required prior to the 

commencement of ALL procurement 
activity – this includes a direct award 

UNLESS under £5k total value. 
 

Where a framework agreement is being 
used and a direct award is being made, it 
is advisable for a file note to be kept. See 

Section 18 
 
Full details of contract award (over £5k in 

total value) need to be held on the 
Contracts Register.  A direct award 

process, this is the sole responsibility of 
the contract manager.  If the procurement 
portal is used the Procurement Manager is 

responsible.  
 

A thorough review of whether there is 
TUPE implications should be undertaken 
prior to commencing on any procurement 
activity and this should be undertaken in 

consultation with Legal Services and 
Human Resources. 

 
A purchase order should be raised for all 

contracts. 
 

 

Total Value less than 
£5,000 

Competitive quotations are not required.  A direct approach to a 
single supplier is acceptable. A local supplier should be engaged 

where possible.  No requirement for a formal contract to be in 
place 

Where a compliant framework is being utilised then the above value bands do not apply and an 
appointment for any value allowed for within the framework agreement can be entered into.  Frameworks 

can be accessed via use of further competition or via direct award 

73



Page 60 of 63 
 

Procurement Flow Chart – Below Threshold for Works  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Identify the need to Procure & estimate the total value of the contract  
Contract Value: annual value x contract length 

e.g.  £20 k spend per annum x 5-year contract = £100,000 total value of contract 

Total Value less than 
£1,000,000 

A direct approach to a single supplier is acceptable. A local 
supplier should be engaged where possible.  A formal contract 

required to be in place. 
 
 

Total Value exceeds 
£1,000,001 but less than 

£2,500,000 
 

 
 

Three quotations from local suppliers (where possible) must be 
requested via the RFQ documentation.  The process must be 

conducted electronically utilising the procurement portal.  

Completion of the Contract Managers 
checklist is required prior to the 

commencement of ALL procurement 
activity. 

 
Where a framework agreement is being 

used and a direct award is being made, it 
is advisable for a file note to be kept. See 

Section 18 
 
Full details of contract award (over £5k in 

total value) need to be held on the 
Contracts Register.  A direct award 

process, this is the sole responsibility of 
the contract manager.  If the procurement 
portal is used the Procurement Manager is 

responsible.  
 

A thorough review of whether there is 
TUPE implications should be undertaken 
prior to commencing on any procurement 
activity and this should be undertaken in 

consultation with Legal Services and 
Human Resources. 

 
A purchase order should be raised for all 

contracts. 
 
 

Four quotations from local suppliers (where possible) must be 
requested via the RFQ documentation.  The process must be 

conducted utilising the procurement portal.  

Total Value exceeds 
£2,500,001 but is under 
Threshold for Works 

 
 
 

Where a compliant framework is being utilised then the above value bands do not apply and an 
appointment for any value allowed for within the framework agreement can be entered into.  Frameworks 

can be accessed via use of further competition or via direct award 

74



Page 61 of 63 
 

 

17. Exception to the Normal Route Request Template 
 

  

 

APPROVAL EXCEPTION TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 
 

Contact Name:    
                                                                     

Job Title: 
 

Date: 
 

Description of Contract – this should include the estimated value; brief details of service; 
contract duration etc. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reason for Request – this should relate to the relevant CPR against which the exception 
is being sort, together with full supporting information. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Assistant Director: 
(Print & Sign Name) 
Date: 
 

Recorded and Approved by Procurement Manager: 
 
Date: 
 

Approved by City Solicitor: 
 
Date: 
 

 

75



Page 62 of 63 
 

18 Business Case/File Note Template 
 

 Below is a template which can be utilised when detailing why a certain process 
has been followed rather than any other. 
 

 

BUSINESS CASE TEMPLATE 
 

Contract Manager:    
                                                                     

Job Title: 
 

Date: 
 

Description of Process Followed: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reason for Process Followed: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Assistant Director: 
(Print & Sign Name) 
Date: 
 

Recorded and Approved by Procurement Manager: 
 
Date: 
 

Approved by City Solicitor: 
 
Date: 
 

76



Page 63 of 63 
 

 

19. Contract Managers Checklist 
 

 The following references the two checklists that should be completed along with 
the relevant appendices which provide additional information to help contract 
managers understand what the various sections are for.  All documentation is 
available to download within Net consent. 
 
Contract Managers Checklist – New Provision/Contract 
 
Contract Managers Checklist – Extension/Contract Variation 
 
Appendix One – Contract Manager Procedures V8.0 - 08.03.2024 
 
Appendix Two – Procedures for Financial Matters in Procurement Processes 
V3.0 031022 
 
Appendix Three – Contract Management Meeting Agenda V 5.0 - 26.02.2024 
 
Appendix Four – Addendum to Contract V 2.0 171122 
 
Appendix Five - Signing & Sealing Guidelines V 2.0 171122 
 
Appendix Six - Sealing Authority V 0.3 171122 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

77



This page is intentionally blank.



 
 
POLICY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14 JANUARY 2025 

 

 
SUBJECT:  

 
RENEWAL OF PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 
ALLOWING FOR THE GATING OF ST PETERS PASSAGE 
 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

COMMUNITIES & ENVIRONMENT 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

DONNA BREWER - PUBLIC PROTECTION AND ANTI-SOCIAL 
BEHAVIOUR TECHNICAL OFFICER 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To brief Executive Committee members on the process and consideration given to 

date, to review an existing Public Space Protection Order allowing for the gating of 
St Peters Passage in the City Centre area of Lincoln. 
 

1.2 To seek approval from the Executive Committee on proposals regarding the review 
of the existing Public Space Protection Order (PSPO), which prevents access to this 
passageway. 
 

2. Executive Summary  
 

2.1 In October 2014 the Secretary of State enacted new powers from the Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act. These powers also made changes to some of 
the relevant existing legislation and the Council is required, within the period of three 
years, to reconsider its Designated Public Place Orders (DPPOs) and either 
withdraw or replace them with new Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs).  
 

2.2 The PSPO’s are more flexible and can be applied to a much broader range of issues, 
with local authorities having the ability to design and implement their own 
prohibitions or requirements where certain conditions are met. These conditions 
centre on the impact to the quality of life in the locality, persistence, and whether the 
impact makes the behaviour unreasonable.  
 

2.3 In October 2021, the Executive approved the implementation of a PSPO permitting 
the access of St Peters Passage to be restricted by way of gating at each end of the 
passage. A map of the passageway is shown in Appendix A.  
 

2.4 A PSPO has a maximum duration of 3 years. It is therefore advisable to review the 
order after 3 years to determine whether it should be subject to extension or 
variation. As part of the review, we have sought the views of both the public and 
relevant partner agencies by way of a public and partner consultation, this 
consultation has also been published on social media for greater reach. This 
consultation period opened on Friday 13th September 2024 and closed on Friday 
11th October 2024.  
 

2.5 The purpose of the review is to consider the following points: 

79

Item No. 4



1. Do you support the renewal of the Public Space Protection Order permitting 
the gating of St Peter’s Passage?  

2. Do you have any additional comments you wish to share with us?  
 

2.6 The City of Lincoln, much like other towns and cities nationally, saw an increase in 
on street ASB particularly associated with substance misuse. Prior to the gating of 
St Peters Passage some of these issues had manifested in the city centre 
particularly with St Peters passage being used for crime and ASB including the 
passage being used for urination and defecation. The gating of St Peters Passage 
has removed the public health risk associated with behaviour and the associated 
crime and ASB. 
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 
 

Following increased complaints of drug use, drug paraphernalia, urination, 
defecation and criminal activity occurring in St peters passage in 2018, the initial 
PSPO was approved to gate the passageway restricting access for the public. This 
was renewed in 2021.  
 

3.2 At the time of the decision the passageway was in an unsanitary condition and posed 
a health and safety risk to members of the Public, Street Cleaning Employees and 
Partner Agencies that access the Passage. 
 

4. Public Space Protection Orders 
 

4.1 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act came into force on 20th October 
2014. This Act contains the provisions for the Public Space Protection Order, which 
was enacted by order of the Secretary of State on the 20th of October 2014 
 

4.2 Local authorities have the power to make Public Spaces Protection Orders if 
satisfied on reasonable grounds that two conditions are met. 
  
The first condition is that: 

a) activities carried out in a public place within the Authority’s area have had a 
detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, or  

b) It is likely that activities will be carried out in a public place within that area 
and that they will have such an effect.  
 

4.3 The second condition is that the effect, or likely effect, of the activities:  
a) is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature,  
b) is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable, and  
c) justifies the restrictions imposed by the notice. 

 
Activities can include things that a person or a group does, has done or should do 
(to reduce the detrimental effect).  
 

4.4 A Public Space Protection Order is an order that identifies the space to which it 
applies (“the restricted area” within which the impact has or is likely to occur[ed]) 
and can make requirements, or prohibitions, or both within the area. This means 
that the local authority can, by virtue of the order, require people to do specific things 
in a particular area or not to do specific things in a particular area. The local authority 
can grant the prohibitions/requirements where it believes that they are reasonable 

80



to prevent or reduce the detrimental impact. The order can be made to apply to 
specific people within an area, or to everybody within that area. It can also always 
apply, or within specified times and equally to all circumstances, or specific 
circumstances. The order can apply for a maximum of three years upon which the 
process of reviews and consultation must be repeated to ensure the issues are still 
occurring and the order is having the required effect. Thereafter it can be extended 
for a further three years and, upon the reviews and consultation taking place, can 
be extended more than once for further periods of three years. This will be the third 
renewal.  
 

4.5 The Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act rescinded powers known as 
gating orders. This Power has now been replaced by Public Space Protection 
Orders. 
  

5. The Current PSPO 
 

5.1 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
5.3 

The current PSPO Permits for the gating of St Peters Passage as shown in 
Appendix A. A copy of the PSPO is attached as Appendix B. The passage has been 
gated since July 2019. 
 
Planning permission is in place for the gates that are currently on St Peters 
Passage. 
 
The management of the passage and the gates, i.e., if a key is lost, is provided by 
Lincoln BIG. 

  
6. The Consultation 

 
6.1 On Friday 13th September 2024 a public and partner consultation was launched. 

The consultation lasted 28 days and closed at 5pm on Friday 11th October 2024. 
There was a total of 180 respondents from the public consultation.  
 
As part of the consultation partners were approached directly seeking their views 
and any evidence, they may hold in relation the proposed PSPO. Specifically, we 
asked the public and partners the following: 
 

1. Do you support the renewal of the Public Space Protection Order permitting 
the gating of St Peters Passage?  

2. Do you have any additional comments?  
 

6.2 We have directly approached all members of the Lincoln Anti-Social Behaviour Risk 
Assessment Conference (ASBRAC) and the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership as well 
as approaching the following partners. 
 

 Lincolnshire Police 

 Lincolnshire County Council Highways Team 

 Lincoln BIG  

 Framework 

 YMCA 

 Talking Point (formally We Are With You)  

 NHS Neighbourhood team 
 

81



 
In addition to this we have also advised all ward councillors of the consultation and 
City of Lincoln Council Communications team have put out information of the public 
consultation on Social Media Platforms. 
 

6.3 In response to the consultation, we have received a total of 180 maximum 
responses. 87.8% of the responses supported the continuation of the gating of St 
Peters Passage. 12.2% opposed. The opportunity to comment was 32.5% 
supported the renewal. 16.3% opposed the renewal and 51.3% were general 
comments neither supporting nor opposing.  
 
A copy of the comments received is provided in Appendix C.  

  
7. 
 

The Proposal 
 

7.1 
 

To continue the PSPO in its current form for a further period of 3 years.  
 

7.2 To continue to work collaboratively with partners to actively manage and design out 
ASB across the city centre. 

  
8. Strategic Priorities  

 
8.1 Let’s drive inclusive economic growth 

 
Projects within the city centre to tackle anti-social behaviour enhance our city making 
it a more attractive city for investment. 
 

8.2 Let’s reduce all kinds of inequality 
 
The service seeks to reduce inequality through its work with individuals and 
communities. 
 

8.3 
 
 

Let’s enhance our remarkable place  
 
Projects within the city centre to tackle anti-social behaviour serve to improve and 
enhance the city. 
 

9. Organisational Impacts  
 

9.1 Finance (including whole life costs where applicable) 
 
It is unlikely there are any financial cost for the council. Management of the gates is 
undertaken by Lincoln BIG who have agreed they are willing to continue with that 
arrangement. 
 

9.2 
 
 
 
9.3 
 

Legal Implications including Procurement Rules  
 
There are no implications for legal or procurement. 
 
Equality, Diversity and Human Rights  
 

82



The Public Sector Equality Duty means that the Council must consider all individuals 
when carrying out their day-to-day work, in shaping policy, delivering services and in 
relation to their own employees. 
 
It requires that public bodies have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate discrimination 

 Advance equality of opportunity 

 Foster good relations between different people when carrying out their 
activities 

 
Consideration has been given to equality, diversity and Human rights, this decision 
does not materially impact these and serves to improve the quality of life for our 
community. 
 

9.4 Human Resources 
 
There are no implications on human recourses. 
 

9.5 Land, Property and Accommodation 
 
The continuation of the PSPO would remove a public right of way, consultation has 
previously been done with Lincolnshire County Council Highways, who are satisfied 
in principle with the proposal. 
 
All landowners within the area are required to be consulted, which has been satisfied 
through the consultation conducted. 
 

9.6 Significant Community Impact 
 
Whilst the PSPO does close a public right of way the diverted route is not any further 
and would be considered a safer route.  
 

9.7 Corporate Health and Safety implications 
  
The gating of St Peters Passage improves Health and Safety for the public, our 
employees and partner agencies. 
 

10. Risk Implications 
 

10.1 (i) Options Explored 
 
A) Continue with the gating of St Peters Passage this has minimal risk associated 
with it. There has been no evidence of displacement and feedback through the 
consultation has suggested the gating of the passage has improved the local area. 
 
B) Remove the gates and reopen St Peters Passage; from the consultation we 
believe this will lead to ASB becoming prevalent in that area and the feedback from 
Lincoln BIG was that when the passage gates were opened for a couple of days 
following the locks being damaged that ASB started again immediately. 
 

10.2 (ii) Key risks associated with the preferred approach 

83



The preferred approach is to continue with the gating of St Peters Passage. From 
the previous 3 years no key risks have been identified. 
 

11. Recommendation  
 

11.1 
 

That the Executive committee consider fully the comments from Policy scrutiny 
committee. 
 

11.2 If satisfied with the proposal approve the PSPO to be renewed for a further period of 
3 years. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Is this a key decision? 
 

No 
 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 
 

No 
 

How many appendices does 
the report contain? 
 

Three 

List of Background Papers: 
 

None 
 
 

Lead Officer: Donna Brewer - Public Protection, ASB Technical 
Officer 

donna.brewer@lincoln.gov.uk  
 
 
 

84

mailto:donna.brewer@lincoln.gov.uk


6
4

31

17

15

29

PH

18

14

27

MINT STREET

19

GUILDHALL STREET

21

24

8.0m11
8 to 10

7

20

2123

4

12

ROMAN LEGIONARY

Adult Education
Centre

40

FORTRESS

38

LINDVM

Warehouse

4
2

The Day Centre
6

M
IN

T 
LA

N
E

ESS

10

2729

56

The Annexe

26

3

St Peter's Passage

2

26 27

22
1

28

22
5

22
4

297a

22

SALTERGATE297

Stonebow and Guildhall

4

TCBs

1
295

296

St Peter at Arches

Guildhall

6

42

24

25 23

22

St Peter's Passage

CORPORATION STREET21

20

8a

19

8

18

17
13

4 to 16

4

3

22
6 

to
 2

31

2

1

11
.5

m H
IG

H
 S

TR
EE

T

292

290
29123

3 
to

 2
37

288
289

287
286

4283

1

23
8 

to
 2

44
24

5

5

15
.2

m 281

LB

285

24
6

2

280

9

25
3 27925
2

APPENDIX A

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100018414.

Scale:  1:600 at A4

St Peter's Passage PSPO

Version 1:  24-Jul-2018

85



This page is intentionally blank.



Appendix B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

87



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

88



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

89



 

 

90



1 
 

                                                                                      APPENDIX C

       

 

 

 

 

The maximum number of respondents per question was 180. 

It is important to note that for those questions where respondents were asked to select all 

that apply, the percentages are based on the total number of responses received. 

Additionally, for those comments based questions, in some cases the comments provided 

cover more than one topic. In these instances, each comment has been place under the 

topic with the greatest weighting. 

 

 

Figure 1 

Figure 1 shows that out of those that responded to the consultation, the majority selected ‘I 

am a resident’ with a figure of 90.0% (171 respondents). 5.3% (10 respondents) selected ' I 

am an employee at City of Lincoln Council’. 

 

Figure 2 

Figure 2 shows that out of those that responded to the consultation, the majority selected 

‘65+’ with a figure of 36.1% (65 respondents). 25.6% (46 respondents) selected the next age 

bracket below this which was ‘55-64’. 

 

90.0%

2.1% 1.6% 0.5% 5.3% 0.0% 0.5%
0.0%

20.0%

40.0%

60.0%

80.0%

100.0%

I am a resident I
represent/own

a local
business

I represent a
voluntary and

community
services (VCS)

organisation

I represent
another

stakeholder
e.g. health,
police, etc

I am an
employee at

City of Lincoln
Council

I am an
external

partner of the
City of Lincoln

Council

Other

Please select which statement best describes you. Select all that apply.

0.0% 1.1%

7.8%
10.0%

19.4%

25.6%

36.1%

0.0%
0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

Under 18 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+ Prefer not to
say

Please tell us your age:

About You 

Public Space Protection Order Consultation – St Peters 

Passage – Results Summary 

 

   

  

91



2 
 

 

 

Figure 3 

Figure 3 shows that out of those that responded to the consultation, the majority were ‘Male’ 

with a figure of 55.0% (99 respondents). 45.0% (81 respondents) were ‘Female’. 

 

 

Figure 4 

Figure 4 shows that out of those that responded to the consultation, the majority supported 

the renewal of the Public Space Protection Order permitting the gating of St Peters Passage 

with a figure of 87.8% (158 respondents) compared to only 12.2% (22 respondents) who 

were not in favour of this approach. 

The question below was a comments-based question. Figure 5 is an overview of the 

comments received with a more detailed breakdown shown underneath. 

 

Figure 5 

Support the renewal – 26 comments  

Would be handy to use the passage but there are other means of accessing the two streets 
and the benefits from reducing ASB outweigh the need to use the passage 

It is a shame that this has to be done, but on health grounds alone it needs to be done. 
Walked through in the past and never again. 

55.0%
45.0%

0.0% 0.0%
0.0%

20.0%

40.0%

60.0%

Male Female Prefer not to say Other

Please select your gender:

87.8%

12.2%

0.0%

50.0%

100.0%

Yes No

Do you support the renewal of the Public Space Protection Order 
permitting the gating of St Peters Passage?

32.5%

16.3%

51.3%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

Support the renewal Against the renewal General

Do you have any additional comments you wish to share with us?

Supporting the renewal 

92



3 
 

This gate stops the misuse of the passageway from the mentioned in the statement. A gate 
would also be useful for the passageway leading to Tentercroft street carpark, as the same is 
happening there. 

Fully support this 

I think this kind of initiatives are very useful and I support them. The open spaces of our city 
should be available for all of us to enjoy and not just become ulcers that you don't want to be 
around.  

I would look at completely closing if possible  

It has worked.  If the pathway cannot be kept safe for people, any other way it should be 
gated. 

It is essential for public safety and hygiene. 

It was truly awful before being blocked off and has been much better since. 

Re-opening of the passage would be an invitation to anti-social behaviour and public order 
offences. This would be injurious to individuals and unacceptable to other members of the 
public. 

It is right that hidden places such as the Passage should be closed to prevent fouling and 
other forms of nuisance, but there clearly is a need for those "living on the streets" to have 
access to appropriate toileting / hand washing facilities 

The whole area is increasingly being used by drunks and drug users and it is becoming more 
intimidating to walk there after dark. I welcome any steps to prevent misuse of these areas 

Needs to be done as it's a disgusting thing people are doing 

Gating the passage is a result, to some extent, of the lack of public toilet facilities. The 
passage should be well lit during the evening, and if gated the protection order should allow 
for it to be opened during the day to ensure right of access. 

Fully support this as this will detract drug use and other activities from this area 

The area still has its issues with homelessness and drug abuse. Opening the pathway would 
only result in previous problems occurring again. Stronger police presence in the area is 
required.   

I do believe and hope that in due course it will be possible to reopen this pathway, however, I 
am not sure that the time is right yet. 

It is helping to keep drug users and people using it as a toilet out of the city  

Any measures that stop/prevent anti-social behaviour are good  

It is good that this remains gated off. 

This is a reasonable step under the circumstances. 

The level of antisocial behaviour dropped dramatically after the installation of the gates and 
as such I support the renewal 

If the order were not continued the previous problems with the alley way would recur 
immediately  

As a city council you are protecting residents, the majority of whom wouldn't probably come 
into town if they were being confronted with such an awful place, misused by the few. 

We support the continuation of the PSPO for St Peters Passage as it heavily reduces the 
level of ASB in the area.  If the gates were to be removed there would be an immediate 
increase in crime and ASB in this area which will negatively impact the businesses in the 
area.  This was seen when the locks on the gate were recently changed. 

As long as it’s gated only at night 

 

Against the renewal – 13 comments  

Cutting off this passage is a hinderance to residents who could use it as a shortcut, there are 
several other passages all of which have remained open, including one directly opposite St 
Peters Passage. While I acknowledge drug use is a problem, it is also a problem down the 
other passages and measures can be put in place such as adequate lighting to make it less 
favourable for people to use this location. 

Fundamentally I am against the closure of any public right of way as it goes against the 
principle of the right to access. However I agree to the PSPO and, I hope the Council have 
taken due diligence in respect to the cost of cleaning against the loss of the right of access. 

93



4 
 

A right of way lost because of the lack of monitoring and cleaning. The actions of a few anti-
social people should not dictate a policy of closing off public pathways 

I am fed up with inept council officials stopping people from doing things or going places or 
even having gatherings. Let people be free to do what they want. 

The anti-social behaviour should be addressed by the police, instead of blocking the passage 
and removing the access way for all. 

Needs to open for cut through 

The main reason for the misuse of the area is because of the lack of legitimate facilities of a 
good standard throughout the city centre.  The passage way was used by disabled people to 
get from disabled bays to the high street gating the passage stopped this. 

I would like for the passage to be unrestricted, may be this could be in the day time with night 
time lockup, similar to what happens at Dawber Gardens 

Where will it end closing public rights of way. You need to find a solution to the problem not 
just close things. Put up lights along there or cameras.  

It should be open to the public  

Surely the passage should only be closed after say 8pm. As it is a public right of way perhaps 
cctv and bright lighting may be a better deterrent.  For people with mobility issues need these 
cut through to minimise the length of their journeys.  

Closing amenities due to ASB isn't the way forward. Other solutions need to be found. 

Why are you gating Lincoln’s history, you should leave it open! 

 

General – 41 comments  

N/A 

The gate appears to be open or accessible from Mint Lane as I’ve witnessed a rough sleeper 
leaving their belongings down the passage. 

No 

Like all things in life spoilt by a minority, the rest of us have to suffer. I’m a great believer in 
naming and shaming. 

No 

Make sure the passage is kept clean and fresh 

Provide more public toilets 

Several passages in the vicinity are also being used as toilets and i sometimes catch couples 
engaged in "sexual activity" (This includes the bridge under the Council offices). 

The people who were using the passage for ant-social behaviour need help and support. 

Viewed recently - in shocking state of dirtiness with much rubbish about.   

No 

The provision of toilets at night in Lincoln is poor.  Given that there are homeless people on 
the streets, this is an issue which needs to be addressed.  Apparently the lifts in the bridge 
over the level crossing on St Mary’s Street are also being used as a toilet. 

More police etc in high street people openly exchanging small packets 

Yeah. Use the EXTRA surplus money from your off street car parking, gained since 1 
September 2023 that is not ring fenced to reinstate ALL male and female toilets across town.   
Making them free for people to use and abuse. 
 

Not sure the name or brand the German 🇩🇪 people use some special paint as it’s urinated on, 

it somehow sprays back. Invest in some. 
 
Sadly you don’t use dummy cctv cameras otherwise stick one up, or can you fix a mirror on 
opposite buildings to use other cameras! 

I would wish to know if shutting the passage has stopped the problem completely. It’s 
unfortunate that any rights of way have to be closed but if they are being misused, I see no 
alternative. 

A better provision of public conveniences in town centre might help to prevent similar 
problems in such passageways 

None at present 

To prevent use as a toilet and drug taking space  

94



5 
 

Offer more support for the homeless and maybe employ staff to clean the areas more often. 
The city centre is so dirty. Put additional lighting down the passage, it is a useful cut through.  

Bring the gate forward, cover it so you can’t see down it and pour a load of bleach to remove 
the smell 

Similar passages should also be closed off for public access 

Putting a gate up is like mending a hole in a ship, sure it stops the leak, did anyone stop to 
wonder what caused the leak to begin with? I suspect not, we've all got our bills to pay so why 
bother eh 

It isn’t a passageway I would use.  

The area should be policed and cleaned. What makes this area any different to the glory hole 
or the arches at the Stonebow  

Keys should be easily available to security, police, ambulance staff (medics) and fire-brigade 
for emergencies.  

It was always smelly and made me feel nervous, came to avoid it. 

A comprehensive survey of locations similar to St. Peter's Passage should be taken in order 
to enhance the High Street environment and deter anti-social behaviour to a greater extent.  

It was always a smelly and dimly lit area, often used as a urinal rather than a cut through. 
There are 2 other ways to Mint Lane, either through Park Street or Mint Street, adding barley 
a minute or so to walking time. 

Ideally there needs to be some history on display 

Safety and security should be paramount. 

Keep the area clean 

No additional comments 

No 

It would seem that Park St. and Mint St. allow plenty of access between High St. and Mint Ln. 
without the need of St. Peters Passage.  

I would go down there more but I find the smell and stuff down there intimidating as a female.  

It might be better to electrify the gates. 

Will the gating of St Peters Passage prevent people going in there. 

The mess left by pigeons should be cleaned regularly. 

I do think that the issue described is still present and that places this passage simply support 
this, unfortunately. 
Saying this - it bears another question how we get the issue of unsocial behaviour and drug 
misuse under control? 

I believe that it should be bricked up. 

Public toilets should be provided. 

 

Total number of comments received = 80 comments 

 

 

95



This page is intentionally blank.



 

 
 

 

 

 

 
POLICY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

14 JANUARY 2025 

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
POLICY SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2024/25 AND 
EXECUTIVE WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 

REPORT BY: 
 
LEAD OFFICER: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND TOWN CLERK 
 
CATHERINE WILMAN, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To present the Policy Scrutiny Committee Work Programme for 2024/25 and 

receive comments and considerations from members of potential further items for 
discussion in the municipal year 2024/2025.  
 

1.2 To advise Members of the items that are on the current edition of the Executive 
Work Programme. 
 

2. Background 
 

2.1 The work programme is attached at Appendix A. 
  

2.2 The Constitution provides for the publication of the Executive Work Programme on 
a monthly basis detailing key decisions/ exempt para (Section B) items to be taken 
by the Executive, a committee of the Executive or a Member of the Executive 
during the period covered by the programme.  This is attached at Appendix B and 
has been provided to assist members in identifying items for inclusion within the 
work programme. 
 

3. Recommendation 
 

3.1 That Members give consideration to the Policy Scrutiny Work Programme for 
2024/25 and update where appropriate to include items which they wish to 
consider from the Executive Work Programme as required. 
 
 
 

Is this a key decision? 
 

No 
 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 
 

No 
 

How many appendices does the 
report contain? 
 

Two 

List of Background Papers: 
 

None 

Lead Officer: Catherine Wilman, Democratic Services Officer 
Email: catherine.wilman@lincoln.gov.uk 

 

97

Item No. 6

mailto:catherine.wilman@lincoln.gov.uk


This page is intentionally blank.



Policy Scrutiny Committee Work Programme – Timetable for 2024/25 
 

  
11 June 2024 - CANCELLED 
 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s)  Comments 

Health Scrutiny Update  
 

Chair of Policy Scrutiny Regular Report 

Policy Scrutiny Work Programme 2024 -2025 
 

Democratic Services Regular Report 

 
29 July 2024 
 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Comments 

Policy Scrutiny Work Programme 2024-2025 Update 
 

Democratic Services Regular Report 

Health Scrutiny Update  
 

Chair of Policy Scrutiny Regular Report 

Grounds Maintenance Specification (for new contracts from 1/9/2026) 
 

Caroline Bird  

Car Parking Strategy  
 

Simon Walters  

Tree Policy 

 
Steve Bird  

Lincoln Homelessness Strategy 
 

Alison Timmins  

 
 
 
 
 

99



1 October 2024 
 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Comments 

Policy Scrutiny Work Programme 2024 -2025 
 

Democratic Services Regular Report 

Health Scrutiny Update  
 

Chair of Policy Scrutiny Regular Report 

Lincoln Business Improvement Group Ballot Simon Walters 
 

Requested at 29 July 
2024 meeting. 

Localised Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26. 
 

Martin Walmsley  

 
19 November 2024 
 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Comments 

Policy Scrutiny Work Programme 2024-2025 Update 
 

Democratic Services Regular Report 

Health Scrutiny Update Chair of Policy Scrutiny  Regular Report 
 

Corporate Document Review Emily Holmes Annual Report 
 

Department of Housing and Investment Remedies Policy 
 

Emily Holmes  

Unacceptable Customer Actions Policy 
 

Emily Holmes  

 
 
 
 
 
 

100



14 January 2025 
 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s)  Comments 

Policy Scrutiny Work Programme 2024-2025 Update 
 

Democratic Services Regular Report 

PSPO Renewal St Peter’s Passage Ben Jackson 
 

3 Yearly Renewal 

Health Scrutiny Update  
 

Chair of Policy Scrutiny Regular Report 

Procurement Act 2023/CPR’s 

 

Carolyn Wheater/ Heather 
Carmichael 

 

 
 18 March 2025 
 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Comments 

Policy Scrutiny Work Programme 2024-2025 Update 
 

Democratic Services Regular Report 

Health Scrutiny Update  
 

Chair of Policy Scrutiny Regular Report 

Paper and Card Recycling Options Steve Bird 
 

 

Safeguarding Policy 
 

Emily Holmes Annual Report 

Review of Equality and Diversity Corporate Document Suite 
 

Business Manager – Corporate 
Policy and Transformation 
 
 

 

 
Unscheduled Items: 
Recycling- paper and card collections proposal 

101



T
his page is intentionally blank.



 
 
 
 

 
EXECUTIVE WORK PROGRAMME 

 

January 2025 - December 2025 
 
 

NOTES 
 

1. The Leader in consultation with the Chief Executive and Town Clerk 
prepares an Executive Work Programme to cover a period of twelve 
months. 

 
2. The Executive Work Programme contains matters which the Leader 

has reason to believe will be the subject of a key decision during the 
period covered by the Plan or Executive decisions which are likely to 
be taken in private. 

 
3. A Key Decision is one which is likely: 

 
a) to result in the Local Authority incurring expenditure which is , or 

the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the 
Local Authority’s budget for the service or function to which it 
relates; or 

 
b) to be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or 

working in an area comprising 2 or more wards in the area of the 
local authority. 

 
4. Whilst the majority of the Executive’s business at the meetings listed in 

the Executive Work Programme will be open to the public and media 
organisations to attend, there will be some business to be considered 
that contains, for example, confidential, commercially sensitive or 
person information. 

 
 This document serves as formal notice under the Local Authorities 

(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 that certain items in the Executive Work 
Programme will be considered in private because the item contains 
exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended) and that the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it. 
If an item is to be considered in private this will indicated on the 
individual decision notice. 

 
 If you have any queries, please telephone 01522 873387 or email 

democratic.services@lincoln.gov.uk. 

103

mailto:democratic.services@lincoln.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE WORK PROGRAMME SUMMARY 
 

Date of Decision Decision 
Decision: Summary  Decision Taken 

By 
Key 

Decision 
Exempt 

Information 

06 January 2025 
 

Council Tax Base 2025/26 
 
 

To recommend to Council, the 
calculated Council Tax Base for 
2025/26. 

Executive 
 

Yes Public 

06 January 2025 
 

Localised Council Tax Support 
Scheme 2025/26 
 
 

To recommend to Council a Localised 
Council Tax Scheme for 2025/26, and 
associated Exceptional Hardship 
Fund. 

Executive 
 

Yes Public 

06 January 2025 
 

Statement of Accounts 2023/24 
 
 

To note the final Statement of  
Accounts. 

Executive 
 

No Public 

06 January 2025 
 

Housing Repair Service Back 
Office Restructure 
 
 

To seek approval of partial restructure 
of HRS back office team. 

Executive 
 

No Private 

06 January 2025 
 

New payment infrastructure at 
Central Car Park 
 
 

Which machines to replace the 
existing payment system with. 

Executive 
 

Yes Private 

06 January 2025 
 

COLLECTION FUND 
SURPLUS/DEFICIT – 
COUNCIL TAX 
 
 

To inform Members of the estimated 
balance for the Council Tax element 
of the Collection Fund and the surplus 
or deficit to be declared for 2024/25. 

Executive 
 

Yes Public 

20 January 2025 
 

Leasing of Beaumont Manor 
 
 

To agree a revised lease for 
Beaumont Manor. 

Executive 
 

Yes Private 

20 January 2025 
 

Council Dwelling and Garage 
Rent Report 25-26 
 
 

To decide the rent for Council 
dwellings and garages for the 2025-
26 financial year. 
 
 
 

Executive 
 

Yes Public 

104



 

20 January 2025 
 

COLLECTION FUND 
SURPLUS/DEFICIT – 
BUSINESS RATES 
 
 

To inform Members of the estimated 
balance for the Business Rates 
element of the Collection Fund and 
the surplus or deficit to be declared 
for 2024/25. 
 

Executive 
 

Yes Public 

20 January 2025 
 

DRAFT MEDIUM TERM 
FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2025 - 
2030 
 
 

To recommend to the Executive the 
draft Medium-Term Financial Strategy 
for the period 2025-2030 and the draft 
budget and council tax proposal for 
2025/26, for consultation and 
scrutiny. 

Executive 
 

No Public 

20 January 2025 
 

Charterholme – Housing Phase 
1 and Wider Update 
 
 

Discussion and approval of Housing 
Phase 1 and wider update. 

Executive 
 

Yes Partly Private 

20 January 2025 
 

Leisure Services Contract 
Update 
 
 

Review of the financial performance 
relating to the existing contract for the 
provision of leisure centres in the city 
and to recommend short term 
adjustments. 

Executive 
 

Yes Private 

24 February 2025 
 

Pet Policy (Housing Tenants) 
 
 

Approve the Policy. Executive 
 

No Public 

24 February 2025 
 

Procurement Act 2023 & CPR's 
 
 

To note the changes brought in by the 
Procurement Act 2023 and to 
recommend the updated contract 
procedure rules to Council. 

Executive 
 

No Public 

24 February 2025 
 

Cornhill Market - Operational 
Plan 
 
 

Update on progress to set context for 
decisions covering: 
- permanent staff 
- operational budget 
- operational business plan. 

Executive 
 

Yes Partly Private 

24 February 2025 
 

Jasmin Green 
 
 

Development of allocated housing 
site for council housing with 
associated 
improvements/enhancements. 

Executive 
 

Yes Public 

105



 

24 February 2025 
 

City Centre Masterplan - 
Review 
 
 

Agreement to proceed with the City 
Centre Masterplan Review including 
the specific detailed pieces of work on 
Town Fund projects on Tentercroft 
Street and Wigford Way. 

Executive 
 

Yes Public 

24 February 2025 
 

Tenancy Agreement 
 
 

Approve the revised Tenancy 
Agreement to apply for all new 
tenants and retrospectively to all 
existing tenants from 1st April 2025. 

Executive 
 

Yes Public 

24 February 2025 
 

COUNCIL TAX 2025/26 
 
 

To set out the City Council’s council 
tax requirement and, together with the 
requirements of the County Council 
and the Police & Crime 
Commissioner Lincolnshire and will 
allow Members to make a formal 
recommendation to Council for the 
overall levels of council tax for 
2025/26. 

Executive 
 

No Public 

24 February 2025 
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 
STRATEGY 2025 - 2030 
 
 

To recommend to the Executive the 
Medium-Term Financial Strategy for 
the period 2025-2030 and the budget 
for 2025/26, for referral to Full 
Council. 

Executive 
 

No Public 

24 February 2025 
 

Living Wage Report - (HR) 
 
 

Consideration to adopt the changes 
to Living Wage (Living Wage 
Foundation). 

Executive 
 

Yes Public 

24 February 2025 
 

Council Pay Policy (HR Report) 
 
 

Approval of the Councils Pay Policy. Executive 
 

No Public 

24 March 2025 
 

Paper and card recycling 
options 
 
 

To decide if to implement, in part or in 
full, a separate paper and card 
collection scheme. Also, if so, when 
to do this. 

Executive 
 

Yes Public 

24 March 2025 
 

Housing Pipeline Approach 
 
 

Decision on the approach to 
developing a housing pipeline on City 
Council owned land. 

Executive 
 

Yes Public 

106


	Agenda
	1 Confirmation of Minutes - 19 November 2024
	3 Procurement Act 2023 & Council Procedure Rules
	PDF Contract Procedure Rules - Appendix A

	4 Renewal of Public Spaces Protection Order Allowing for the Gating of St Peters Passage
	APPENDIX A - pspo st peters passage Exclusion Zone
	Appendix B PDF
	Appendix C ..PSPO St Peter's Passage Results 2024

	6 Policy Scrutiny Work Programme 2024-25 and Executive Work Programme Update
	Policy Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2024-2025 App A
	$$Plan


